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THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Baker, you have asked for at least two witnesses to be 
recalled, as I understand it? 
 
MR BAKER:  Yes, Commissioner.  We would like to recall Mr Gregg and Mr 
Mackrell for the purposes of, particularly to have a discussion in relation to the 5 
alteration, sorry, discuss their evidence in respect of the alteration of - in respect of the 
claim that has been made by the UFU on their behalf. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Call Mr Gregg. 
 10 
MR BAKER:  Thank you, sir. 
 
 
<DANIEL RONALD GREGG, RECALLED AND RESWORN               [9.50 am] 
 15 
 
<EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR BAKER 
 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Gregg, please feel free to take your coat off if you wish 20 
to?---Yes. 
 
Mr Baker? 
 
MR BAKER:  We’ll do that first. 25 
 
Mr Gregg, when this matter was last before the commission you gave evidence in 
respect of setting appropriate relativities between non-commissioned officers, if I may 
use that - sorry, non-operational employees and operational employees, the difference in 
setting an appropriate relativity for those two classifications.  Since that point in time 30 
there’s been a change in the claim that’s before the commission, and that relates to the 
rate of pay that is applicable, the 100 per cent rate of pay that is applicable, that is to the 
operational employee and the non-operational employee undertaking the same duties.  I 
would like to ask you some questions this morning in relation to the salary that you earn 
and the salary that is earned by an operational employee who undertakes similar, or 35 
identical work to that that you undertake in your capacity as the building 
inspector?---Well, just a point of clarification, it’s consultant, building safety. 
 
I’m sorry.  I do bet your pardon?---Yes. 
 40 
I would like to offer you a copy of the award and just for the purposes of the record I’ll 
identify it as the Tasmanian Fire Fighting Industry Employees Award number 1 of 
2007, and I would ask you to turn to page 13 if you would?---Yes. 
 
And page 13 does not deal with community fire safety officer levels, classification 45 
descriptors at paragraph (m)?---Paragraph (m)? 
 
Yes, community fire safety officer level 1?---Yes. 
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Paragraph (n) deals with CSO, CFSO level 2?---Mm. 
 
Over the page at page 14 it talks about the definition for a community fire safety officer 
at level 3.  It goes on at (p) to talk about community fire safety officer at level 4;  does it 
not?---Yes, that’s correct. 5 
 
Good.  And the over at page 18 in paragraph (l) it provides salary increments for 
employees classified as community fire safety officer - officers, plural;  does it 
not?---That’s correct. 
 10 
Thank you.  And then also on page 18 at the bottom of the page at paragraph, sorry, at 
clause 6, the award talks about special conditions of work relating to community fire 
safety officers and it goes at paragraph (a) to say: 
 
 The conditions of employment for community fire safety officers are those 15 

contained in the General Conditions of Employment Award ...(reads)... clause 1 
of this award. 

 
And then it goes on at various paragraphs and it spells out conditions of employment.  
Mr Gregg, I’m going to ask you whether or not these conditions of employment relate to 20 
your work, such as paragraph (b) they talk about the: 
 
 ...hours of work, maximum hours, overtime, time off in lieu, managing time off- 
 
at the bottom of page 19, over the page to page 20, talks about travel, lunch breaks, 25 
morning and afternoon tea breaks, and a minimum break, and finishes up on page 21 
with holidays with pay?---Yes. 
 
So you would confirm that they are your conditions of employment as per the award, 
rather than other bits and pieces that may apply?---Yes. 30 
 
Thank you, very much.  Then over the page at page 22 that award talks about wage 
rates. And if we go down the list at - if we work our way through, it commences at 
trainee firefighter, comes down to first class firefighter and then we have a station 
officers it seems relativity to the nominal trade level is 120 per cent?---Yes. 35 
 
And the rate there is $67,009?---Yes. 
 
And then there is a station officer, grade 1, which is the interim classification and then it 
concludes at senior station officer, $69,801?---Yes. 40 
 
And then if we pursue, we go down the page even further, we come to community fire 
safety officers and there’s levels 1, 2, 3 and 4 and there’s a range of salaries of 40 - starts 
at $41,126 and progresses through to a maximum salary range of $61,344;  that’s 
correct, isn’t it?---Yes. 45 
 
I would like to hand you an exhibit, if I may?---Mm. 
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And it’s headed Salary Comparisons Community Fire Safety Officer and Senior Station 
Officer, Station Officer. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   This will be R10, Salary Comparisons Community Fire 
Safety Officers and Senior Station Officers, oblique - I’m sorry, R9 that will be, oblique, 5 
Station Officer. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #R9 SALARY COMPARISONS COMMUNITY FIRE SAFETY 
OFFICERS AND SENIOR STATION OFFICERS/STATION OFFICER 10 
 
 
MR BAKER:  This is an extraction from the award and I would just like to take you 
through the exhibit and you’ll see there that I’ve headed it up Community Fire Safety 
Officer.  Salaries are based on skills, competence and training and that’s a very 15 
shorthand way of expressing the way in which the classification is arrived at but I think 
for the purposes of the exercise we’ll define it as that.  So, again, it suggests that there is 
a community fire safety officer level 1.  There was a salary range there of $41,126 to 
$50,233.  A CFSO level 2 at $51,165 to $53,952;  a level 3 at $54,883 to $57,670.  
You’re classified level 3, are you not?---I’m classified at level 3, however, the 20 
increments there beside that don’t actually reflect what’s on the TFFI Award that was 
provided in the last exhibit.  The maximum salary for that particular band was 55,810. 
 
I do beg your pardon.  So you’re on $55,810?---Correct. 
 25 
MR WARWICK:   Even they think you’re underpaid. 
 
MR BAKER:  Yes, well, unfortunately, I’ve taken it straight out of the award and it’s 
not, unfortunately, too clear.   However, if you confirm that you’re at level 3, that’s 
fine?---Yes. 30 
 
So then we have a look at the salary that’s on offer for a station officer, or senior station 
officer.  You’ll note there I said salaries are based on skills, competency and 
training?---Mm. 
 35 
In addition the salaries contain a loading to realise a composite salary.  So I’ve done the 
two exercises there for a station officer and a senior station officer.  And you’ll see there 
that the wages for a station officer is composed of the shift-work premium of $6700;  a 
weekend penalty rate loading of $3330?---Mm. 
 40 
A public holiday loading of $2513;  and a compensation for working a 42-hour week 
which works out to $10,050.  There is a total loading there of $22,613 and I apologise 
in advance, Commissioner, in case I may have made a slight dollar error there but in 
round terms it’s $22,600 and the component for the skills, competence and the training 
is $44,396.  And then if you look across on the other column there is a senior station 45 
officer, and again, if you look at how the salary is composed there is a shift-work 
premium there of $6980;  a weekend penalty rate of $3490;  a public holiday loading of 
$2617;  a 42-hour week compensation payment of $10,470, making a total loading of 
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$23.557.  And the component for the skills, the competence, the training, etcetera, the 
expertise, whatever how you would describe that is $46,244 which makes up the 
composite rate of $69,801.  Are you aware that’s how the salary is composed, 
comprised, for a station officer, senior station officer?---Not explicitly, no.  I was aware 
that there was components made for, you know, shift allowance and penalties, if you 5 
like, for want of a better word, but I’ve never actually seen it broken down as, you 
know, such figures that are since in front of me. 
 
Yes.  I do have another exhibit but, unfortunately, could I just seek an adjournment for 
two minutes till we just do that correction because of the - - -  10 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   We’ll go off the record. 
 
 
OFF THE RECORD [10.04 am] 15 
 
 
RESUMED [10.06 am] 
 
 20 
MR BAKER:   I would like to hand to the commission a further exhibit and this time 
there’s a copy for Mr Warwick. 
 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   This will be R10, treatment of salaries. 25 
 
 
EXHIBIT #R10 TREATMENT OF SALARIES 
 
 30 
MR BAKER:   Mr Gregg, I would like to sort of take you through this.  We need to 
particularly concern ourselves with the first four points.  Now, I’m suggesting there to 
you that in relation to - you need to - if you’re looking at comparing salary with salary 
then you need to compare like with like.  So the community fire safety officer, at 
point 1, the community fire safety officer, level 1, level 3, step through the salary as 35 
$55,810?---Yes. 
 
Which, as you said, is your salary?---Yes. 
 
The station officer, who has a non-composite rate, that is the level for skills, 40 
competence and training, is $44,396, or for a senior station officer the rate if 
$46,244?---Mm. 
 
So the advantage in your salary for skills, competence and training in the first instance, 
is $11,414, or $9566 in the other.  So assuming my maths are correct and, as I’ve 45 
already indicated an apology for the odd dollar here or there, would you agree that your 
salary in respect of skills, competence and training exceeds that of a station officer, or a 
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senior station officer undertaking similar work to the work which you currently 
perform?---Can you just repeat the salary question again, sorry? 
 
Would you agree, or would you not agree that the salary which you are paid by the 
Tasmanian Fire Service, the work that you undertake, based on your skills, your 5 
competence and your training, exceeds that of a station officer, or a non - sorry, or a 
senior station officer undertaking the same level of work, the same nature of the work 
exceeds that rate for the same level of skills, competence and training?---I wouldn’t 
agree with that, no. 
 10 
All right, let’s press on.  Point 2, the community fire safety officer, level 3, step 3, the 
salary again is $55,810.  The composite rate for a station officer, or a senior station 
officer is $66,009, or $69,801 for the senior station officer.  So the differential between 
the two is $11,199, or $13,991, again allowing for the difference in rounding.  So as I 
understand it your claim, or the claim that’s being advanced on your behalf by the UFU 15 
is that you should be paid the difference in that salary;  is that not the claim?---I don’t 
believe that’s the claim.  We’re not, as I understand it, we’re not talking about the 
difference of the loading as such.  I guess, from my perspective, it’s equal remuneration 
for someone undertaking exact same job as another person within the same 
organisation. 20 
 
Well, I’m now confused.  So we now have a situation where you wanted equal 
remuneration for an employee undertaking the same level of skills, competence and 
training.  As I understood it, that was the original argument, or, sorry, the second 
argument.  But let’s just leave that one, we’ll try and get this clarified before we go 25 
much further.  So what you’re saying to this commission is that you want your wage, 
that is your current wage, made up of the loaded components that are paid to a station 
officer, or senior station officer such as the shift-work premium, the weekend penalty 
rate, the public holiday loading, or the 42-hour week compensation payment?---No, 
that’s not correct. 30 
 
Well, what is it that you want?---As I stated before it’s equal remuneration for those 
undertaking that same role within the same organisation. 
 
Is your equal remuneration - when you talk about "equal" are we talking about 35 
compensation for the same level of skills, competence and training, or are we talking 
about an equal rate of pay on the one hand that is based on skills, competence and 
training and on the other hand a rate of pay that’s based on skills, competency and 
training and in addition to the loading - the loading for the penalty rates, 
etcetera?---Okay.  I guess to explain my position it’s probably further related to the 40 
actual work undertaken.  Obviously, I undertake the exact same work to those 
employed under the same - in the same organisation undertaking the same work so, 
therefore, it’s - I’m not really sure how to further explain it but I guess it’s for the work 
undertaken by those I consider myself to have obviously the necessary skills, 
competence, training, etcetera, as does the others, we’re undertaking the same role after 45 
all.  So I guess that’s the - yes. 
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Mr Gregg, would you not agree - or not agree that your rate of pay for your skills, 
competence and training exceeds that of a station officer, or a senior station office who 
is paid a rate that is somewhat less than you for the same level of skills, competence and 
training?---From a building perspective, building safety perspective I would say, no.  
Obviously, those that are employed in building safety are undertaking the exact same 5 
role as myself, therefore, I see no reason for there to be any difference in remuneration. 
 
That is not the question.  The question is:  when you look at the exhibit, R9, a station 
officer is paid for their skills, competence and training, that is assessed at $44,396.  
Your salary, and you have indicated to the commission that your current salary for your 10 
skills, competence and training has been assessed at $55,810?---That’s correct. 
 
Therefore, I put to you again, is not your salary of $55,810 in excess of the $44,396 that 
is paid to a station officer?---I guess we’re talking about the, obviously, the composite 
and the non-composite components of that particular wage and I guess that’s, you know, 15 
a position that the organisation have come to as to what figure they have put on those 
certain components.  But I guess my argument is those that are employed in building 
safety, you know, going down those items they don’t work a 42-hour week, they don’t 
work public holidays, they don’t work weekends, you know, all those particular 
components that are associated with that particular wage. 20 
 
But you would agree that a composite - and if you just ignore the concept of the total 
wage, but a compensation that is paid to an employee - now, I don’t want to get into this 
argument with you but a composite wage rate is there which is for all those things, but 
not necessarily all employees may not work public holidays;  you would agree that 25 
because of the vagaries of the shift an employee may not work public holidays?---I 
guess when it comes to shift-work we’re not really comparing apples with apples.  Shift-
work, you know, if you’re working shift-work over four, or five years you’re bound to 
work a Christmas Day, a New Year’s Day, you know, all those public holidays that no 
one else would really want to work so we’re not comparing apples with apples I guess, 30 
so - - -  
 
No, we’re not, but there is - but what you are saying, and the claim is the UFU seeks the 
same remuneration for the four employees subject to this application who do the same 
work as employees who come from a career firefighting background.  Now, that is the 35 
replacement claim that is before the commission.  So what I’m putting to you is that you 
want this commission, or the employer, to either to - the employer to agree, or this 
commission to award you an increase in salary based on the composite salary rate that is 
paid to a station officer, or a senior station officer?---In a nutshell, I guess, yes, based on 
the argument that we undertake the exact same role and function within the fire service. 40 
 
The statement that you make and the argument advanced by UFU are two separate 
matters;  would you agree?  One is about the value of work, is it not?---My 
understanding is that the actual claim itself has changed somewhat.  My understanding 
is that the claim is in relation to remuneration rather than work value itself. 45 
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Well, Mr Gregg, if it’s just about remuneration, now, well, I won’t go there because 
you’re not qualified to answer the question.  It’s a question I’ll put to Mr Warwick at a 
later stage, but the original claim was to set relativities, proper relativities.  The UFU 
changed that to seek the same remuneration for the four employees subject to the 
application.  The only - I put to you, Mr Gregg, that the only way that this commission 5 
can award you equal remuneration or, indeed, if the employer chose to do so, by 
agreement, is to pay you the difference between your salary and the composite rate 
that’s paid to the station officer, or senior station officer;  that’s the issue, is it not?---I 
don’t actually believe there’s any question there?  Can you repeat the question? 
 10 
Would you agree, or would you not agree that the task that is open to the commission in 
these proceedings is to award you, or not as the case may be, an increase in salary that is 
the equivalent of the difference between your current salary and the salary of senior 
station officer that is based on the composite loading? 
 15 
MR WARWICK:   Sir, I believe the witness has answered the question.  I’m being very 
tolerant.  The composite loading doesn’t exist in the award;  it hasn’t existed for 15 years 
and the witness can’t possibly be expected to know whether those - - -  
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   I tend to agree with Mr Warwick.  We’re getting into an area 20 
where it predisposes an expertise in award-making which the witness doesn’t claim to 
make.  The witness can certainly give evidence as to what he does, how his job 
compares with other classifications.  I certainly understand the point you’re making, Mr 
Baker, but I think possibly it’s a point that’s better argued in submissions rather than in 
evidence from a witness who doesn’t have expertise in award-making. 25 
 
MR BAKER:   I’ve tried to stay away from that area.  I think the point is made though, 
Commissioner, that - and I take issue with Mr Warwick and the fact that, you know, it 
doesn’t exist.  Well, it did exist and the salaries were valued on that matter. 
 30 
THE COMMISSIONER:   And that’s a fair point but that will be a matter for 
submissions - - -  
 
MR BAKER:   I agree - - -  
 35 
THE COMMISSIONER:   - - - as to what - how that’s to be treated, ultimately treated. 
 
MR WARWICK:   Well, my point in raising the issue of how long it’s been since the 
composite rates were in the award is simply to reflect upon the fact that the witness 
can’t possibly know any of that history, or its consequences. 40 
 
MR BAKER:   I wasn’t going there.  I wasn’t going there. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, let’s press on, but if you can just be conscious that this 
witness doesn’t present as an expert on the award-making process. 45 
 
MR BAKER:   I accept that, Commissioner, but the claim is for equal salaries. 
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THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 
MR BAKER:   And I wanted to make the point, and I believe I have made the point this 
morning that - that for skills, competence and training this employee earns $11,000 a 
year more than the equivalent - the equivalent station officer. 5 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I hear what you say on that and I understand your 
argument. 
 
MR BAKER:   Well, that point, Commissioner, I’ll leave my remarks there and Ms 10 
Pearce has a question of the witness. 
 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS PEARCE 
 15 
 
MS PEARCE:   Thanks, Mr Gregg.  Mr Gregg, when we were last before the 
commission you gave evidence and you referred to some comparisons in the level of 
skill and expertise you had in relation to a Mr Viney?---Mm. 
 20 
Could you remind the commission, please, of what Mr Viney’s role in the organisation 
is, please?---Okay.  Mr Viney’s role is identical to my own as a consultant, building 
safety, employed in the north west region of the state.  I’m not sure how much further 
back you want me to go? 
 25 
Could you tell the commission what Mr Viney’s background is, to the best of your 
knowledge?---Okay, yes.  His background, to the best of my knowledge, was 
operational - he was an operational firefighter.  Prior coming to building safety he held 
the rank of leading firefighter who, when applied for a position in building safety was 
promoted station officer rank, as I understand it. 30 
 
Thank you.  Now, as I understand from Mr Baker’s question, the claim is that you 
believe that you should be paid the same salary as people doing the same work in your 
area?---Correct. 
 35 
Correct;  okay.  Are you aware that Mr Viney returned to shift-work to undertake 
operational duties?---I’m not aware of that but I wouldn’t discount that at all. 
 
Okay.  Are you aware that he also undertakes operational competency maintenance to 
enable him to do that - - -?---I would - - -  40 
 
- - - as time allows?---I would suggest that that would be a requirement, yes. 
 
Are you able to return to shift - go to shift-work to undertake operational duties?---No. 
 45 
Are you able to go to shift-work to undertake overtime?---No. 
 



 

.T13022/2007 20.11.07 P-56 D.R.  GREGG XXN 
©Auscript Australasia Pty Ltd 2007  MS  PEARCE 

Are you then able to do the same work within the Tasmania Fire Service that Wayne 
Viney’s able to do?---From the position I’m employed in, yes, building safety is what 
I’m employed - - -  
 
The total - - -?--- - - - to undertake. 5 
 
The total job - we have looked at the statements of duties for both Mr Viney’s position, 
the position that’s based on the station officer’s classification, and yours;  are you able to 
do the same range of work that Mr Viney’s able to do?---I’m unable to turn - return back 
to shift operationally.  However, I would argue that there’s a number of others employed 10 
in building safety that would also be unable to, due to their, you know, lack of skills 
maintenance and - - -  
 
So does that mean then that the claim is only about certain individuals that don’t go 
back to shift-work that you see your work as being the same rather than all of the people 15 
within building safety as there - - -?---Not at all. 
 
- - - as there are some who do go back to shift-work on a semi-regular basis?---I would 
certainly concede that the role in which I undertake is identical to all of those employed 
in building safety whether they be senior station officer rank, or station officer rank.  I 20 
concede that, yes, certainly Steve Davidson and Wayne Viney, given that they have 
only bee in the unit for 12, 18 months, but I’m not really sure on the time period, have 
returned to shift on an "as needs" basis.  However, I’m unaware of any others - - -  
 
I would suggest to you, Mark Klop, prior to Steve Davidson and David Homan, prior to 25 
Wayne Viney, both did the same thing?---Yes. 
 
So in building safety there are approximately four consultants in Hobart?---Yes. 
 
One in the north, one in the north west?---Yes. 30 
 
The two we have just spoken about in the north west, David Homan and Wayne Viney 
regularly return to shift-work and maintain operational competence?---Yes, look, I’m 
not sure about the regularity of that.  I couldn’t really comment on that, Robyn, so - - -  
 35 
Well, okay?---Yes. 
 
But they - it wouldn’t surprise you that they have done that?---No. 
 
And within Hobart we have talked about Steve Davidson, Mark Klop, already who 40 
have also undertaken that similar sort of function in returning to shift-work?---Yes.  As 
I understand it - - -  
 
Okay?--- - - - that’s - their returning to shift-work has been post their appointment in 
building safety as in they have undertaken their employment in building safety and I 45 
guess, from an overall organisational perspective, most of these positions are seen as 
being, you know, either promotional, or development-type positions anyway, so - - -  
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Yes, and, as you understand, they’re seen as part of their career development?---Yes. 
 
So that they’re able to move into building safety, develop their career and then 
ultimately be able to undertake operational duties later?---Yes.  Yes. 
 5 
Or to give us the flexibility to move people as we need to, given the demands, 
operational demands?---Yes. 
 
Okay, thank you.  No further questions. 
 10 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Does that conclude, Mr Baker? 
 
MR BAKER:   Yes, thank you, Commissioner. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Warwick? 15 
 
MR WARWICK:   Thank you, Commissioner. 
 
 
<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR WARWICK  20 
 
 
MR WARWICK:   Mr Gregg, you are an expert in industrial relations, have 
qualifications in industrial relations?---No, I’m not. 
 25 
Do you have any idea how the loadings and penalties in exhibit R9 were arrived at, 
when they were arrived at, how they were arrived at?---No, I don’t. 
 
So the figures and calculations on this page about what the true worth of a work-value 
worth, of the salaries involved, yours and a station officer, would you say that you’re 30 
qualified to be able to express an opinion about work value assessments in that 
regard?---No, I wouldn’t. 
 
Ms Pearce asked you about other people who work in building safety who go back to 
shift on occasion?---Yes. 35 
 
And you agreed that there are some who do that from time to time?---Yes. 
 
To your knowledge does everyone else, except for you, in building safety go back to 
shift on a regular basis?---No, they don’t. 40 
 
So could you tell us why you think that?---I’m not really sure.  I would assume that 
certainly some that are employed in building safety, particularly probably Leon Carr, as 
a senior station officer, Geoff Knight, who is the district officer, I would make the 
assumption, or certainly in my time of building safety, there’s never, ever gone back to 45 
shift-work as such.  They have just been involved, or certainly Geoff’s been involved 
with IMTs and so forth as far as I’m aware.  But, yes, I’ve never been called back to 
shift-work as such.  I guess my involvement with the campaign, fires and so forth have 
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been similar to Geoff’s, for want of a better word as far as involvements with IMTs.  
Overtime, yes, I’ve worked overtime and as a result of those - those sorts of things, so I 
don’t necessarily perceive that I’ve been treated any different as anyone else in building 
safety regardless of background. 
 5 
There’s Mr Plummer’s recently gone back after a lengthy period in building safety, 
hasn’t he?---That’s correct, yes. 
 
And did he, or did he not go - regularly go back to shift while he was in building 
safety?---Not that I’m aware of, no. Well, certainly to my knowledge, he never went 10 
back, certainly not on a regular basis.  Whether he did on a one-off I’m not - couldn’t 
really comment on that, Richard. 
 
He worked in building safety for a long time, didn’t he?---Yes.  I’ve been in building 
safety myself for a little over five years and, yes, Peter’s sort of been there all the time.  15 
I’m not really sure on his - on his actual appointment date as such. 
 
He’s there longer than you?---Yes. 
 
So would it be your observation, or tell me if I’m wrong, that the Fire Service, you 20 
know, does have some people in building safety go back to shift and some 
don’t?---That’s correct. 
 
Would that be right?---That’s correct. 
 25 
Or am I wrong?---That’s the observation, yes.  That’s my observation anyway. 
 
Okay.  No further questions, Commissioner. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you, Mr Gregg, you’re excused?---Okay, thank 30 
you. 
 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.30 am] 
 35 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Baker? 
 
MR BAKER:   I would like to call - Daniel, can you leave the copy of the award? 
 40 
MR GREGG:   Yes. 
 
MR BAKER:   Thanks. 
 
MR GREGG:   No worries. 45 
 
MS PEARCE:   Thank you. 
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MR BAKER:   Good, thanks, mate.  I would like to call Mr Mackrell, recall 
Mr Mackrell. 
 
MS PEARCE:   Are we on the record? 
 5 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 
 
<PHILLIP GEORGE MACKRELL, RECALLED AND RESWORN 
 [11.31am] 10 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR BAKER 
 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Baker? 15 
 
MR BAKER:   Thank you, Commissioner. 
 
Mr Mackrell, thank you for making yourself available this morning.  When this matter 
was originally before the commission and you gave evidence, the claim before the 20 
commission was, in part: 
 
 The UFU seeks conciliation and arbitration from the Commission on the issue 

to ensure that appropriate classification levels and relativities between the two 
groups of employees is properly set and maintained. 25 

 
And that’s the gauge of the difference between yourself as a non-operational employee 
in community fire service and versus an operational employee undertaking similar 
work.  Since that point in time the claim has been changed by the UFU and the claim 
now before the commission is that the UFU seeks the same remuneration for the four 30 
employees subject to this application, who do the same work as employees who come 
from a career firefighting background;  are you aware of that?---I was aware of that in 
part, Mr Baker, and given more detail by Mr Killalea this morning. 
 
Thank you, Mr Mackrell.  Mr Mackrell, in front of you is a copy of the current award;  35 
it regulates your conditions of employment and, for the record, I’ll identify it as the 
Tasmanian Firefighting Industry Employees Award, number 1, of 2007, and it’s print 
S202.  Mr Mackrell, I’ll ask you to turn to page 13, if you would, and just to confirm the 
community fire safety officers are part of this award, draw your attention to 
paragraph M on page 13 and it states: 40 
 
 Community fire safety officer, level 1 - 
 
does it not?---Yes, Mr Baker, it does. 
 45 
And paragraph (n) talks about level 2, and over the page, at page 14, it talks about level 
3 and level 4 at paragraph (p).  Mr Mackrell, you’re employed as a community fire 
safety officer, level 4, are you not?---Yes, Mr Baker. 
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Thank you.  And over on page 18 of the award, if I could ask you to turn to that page, at 
paragraph (l) it provides for salary increments for community fire safety officers, does it 
not?---Yes, Mr Baker. 
 
Thank you.  And at the bottom of page 18 at clause 6 it provides for special conditions 5 
of work relating to community fire safety officers, and I’ll just go through these and I’ll 
ask at the end whether or not these are your general conditions of employment.  
Paragraph (a): 
 
 The conditions of employment for community fire safety officers, are those 10 

contained in the General Conditions of Employment Award except where 
provided for specifically in this clause, in part 1, clause 7, part 2, clause 3, and 
part 3, clause 5 of this award. 

 
And then it goes on over the page at page 19, when it talks about: 15 
 
 The hours of work, maximum hours overtime, time off in lieu, managing time 

off. 
 
Page 20, it continues with: 20 
 
 ...clauses - subclauses relating to travel, lunch breaks, morning and afternoon 

tea breaks, minimum break - 
 
and concludes on page 21 with: 25 
 
 ...holidays with pay. 
 
Confirm for the record they are your general conditions of employment?---Mr Baker, 
these are the ones that were posted as discussed, yes. 30 
 
Yes, thank you, Mr Mackrell.  I also understand that there are other conditions of 
employment which are not cited in the award?---Yes, Mr Baker. 
 
On page 22 there is a wage and salary provision, and if we could just go down that 35 
you’ll note that it kicks off with a trainee firefighter.  And if we move our way down the 
list, it talks about: 
 
 ...senior firefighter, leading firefighter - 
 40 
then there’s a station officer there listed at $67,009 and a little further down the page it 
talks about: 
 
 ...senior station officer at $69,801. 
 45 
And then about midway through that page it talks about the: 
 
 ...community fire safety officer, level 1. 
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It also goes to level 2, a level 3 and a level 4.  And you also, as I understand, is it 
$57,670, Mr Mackrell, is that your - or is it 57, or is it 59?---At this point in time I can’t 
100 per cent tell you exactly what it is.  It’s somewhere around that, mate. 
 
I can’t confirm it either, so for the sake of the exercise we’ll say that it’s actually 5 
- - -?---I’m currently being paid HDA at level 7.1. 
 
Right?---With the equivalency of, under the admin and clerical classifications, Mr 
Baker. 
 10 
MR BAKER:   Good.  Thank you very much, Mr Mackrell.  Mr Mackrell, I would like 
to hand you a copy of exhibit which is exhibit - it’s been identified for the record as 
exhibit R9. And what this exhibit is about, it provides an outline of the salaries for 
community fire safety officers in the first part of it and it provides a list of those salaries 
which are based on skills, competence and training and a range of salaries.  Now, I do 15 
apologise, there is actually a transcribing error that’s occurred in relation to the salaries 
themselves and I understand your salary range as community fire safety officer, level 4, 
is $57,670/59,507 peaking at $61,344.  Below that you’ll see that there is a station 
officer and a senior station officer and you’ll see the note there that says: 
 20 
 The salaries are based on skills, competency and training.  In addition, the 

salaries contain a loading to realise a composite salary. 
 
Are you aware that a station officer and a senior station officer who are indeed 
operational employees generally, have a composite salary, there’s two parts of their 25 
salary?---I am indeed, Mr Baker. 
 
And I apologise for any error that may occur in my calculations there below, but within 
a dollar or two I would suggest to you the following is a structure, or an outline of how 
the salaries for a station officer and a senior station officer are comprised.  And if you 30 
just skip the loadings for a moment you’ll see there that I’ve calculated that the station 
officer’s level of skills, competence and training is $44,396 and for a senior station 
officer the amount is $46,244.  Are you aware, from your knowledge, that those rates 
there are approximate?---To be perfectly honest, Mr Baker, there was those based on 
skills, competency and training, I can’t answer that question.  I can only - - -  35 
 
No, that’s fine.  That’s why I asked - I asked you the question the way I did?---Yes. 
 
So does it surprise you that the difference, the differential between the skills, 
competence and training and the loading is quite significant?---Between my position 40 
and theirs? 
 
No, no - well, no, I haven’t got that far yet;  that the composite rate, that is the 22,001 
case and the $23,000 loading, in round dollar terms, is as significant as it is;  does that 
surprise you?---Nothing would actually surprise me, Mr Baker. 45 
 
No;  stupid question. 
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MR WARWICK:   Good answer. 
 
MR BAKER:   Nothing should ever surprise us, should it? 
 
I would hand you a copy of exhibit R10, if I may, and I would ask you - this is an 5 
exhibit headed Treatment of Salaries, and if you just ignore the top part of the document 
and concentrate on points 5, 6, 7 and 8.  You’ll see there that the community fire safety 
officer, level 4, should read step 3, is 61,344 and underneath that you’ll see that the 
senior station officer non-composite rate is $46,244.  In round dollar terms I am 
suggesting that the advantages that you have over a senior station officer is $15,100.  10 
Do you agree with that?---At the end of the day, Mr Baker, no, I wouldn’t because - - -  
 
Okay?--- - - - they don’t actually earn that.  They earn - they get paid more than that to 
do exactly the same job as me. 
 15 
Well, we’ll come to that at point 6.  Point 6 you’ll see there again the community fire 
safety officer, level 4, step 3, the salary is $61,344 and the senior station officer 
composite claim is $69,801.  So the differential between the two rates of pay, that is 
between your maximum salary rate and that of the senior station officer is $8457.  Now, 
I assume, or sorry, I’ll rephrase that:  is it your understanding that that is the UFU claim 20 
for that $8457?---I believe that to be the case, Mr Baker, yes. 
 
So if that is the case then the $8457, give or take a dollar here or there, must come from 
the loadings;  can it come from anywhere else other than those loadings that are listed, 
the shift-work premium of $6980, the weekend penalty rate of 3490, the public holiday 25 
loading of 2617, or the 42-hour week compensation which is 10,470?---I couldn’t tell 
you, Mr Baker, they don’t work weekends and they don’t work shifts - - -  
 
No, no, no, I don’t - I’m not interested in whether they work weekends, or don’t work 
weekends, what I’m saying is, that if that is the UFU claim the $8457 is the claim - well, 30 
perhaps I’ll rephrase the question:  is the UFU, on your behalf, asking this commission 
to grant you a claim of approximately $8457 being the difference between your salary 
at its maximum point, and the senior station officers composite salary rate of 
$69,801?---Yes, Mr Baker. 
 35 
That is the claim?---As I understand it, Mr Baker. 
 
Thank you.  It’s now as I understand the claim now too, so we’re making progress.  So 
the differential then can only come from one area, can’t it?  I mean, because - sorry, I’ll 
rephrase the question:  if the salary for a senior station officer is comprised of two 40 
components, one for skills, competence and training and one for various loadings and 
your salary for your skills, competence and training exceeds that of the senior station 
officer the only area where the salary differential can be drawn is from the loaded rate, 
is it not?---I would say so on the surface of things at this point, Mr Baker. 
 45 
Thank you, Mr Mackrell.  Mr Mackrell, I only have one other question - you may 
clarify this for me as well:  if I take you back to a copy of the award, if we go back to 
the salaries which were on page 22, there is a list there of salaries for community fire 



 

.T13022/2007 20.11.07 P-63 P.G.  MACKRELL XXN 
©Auscript Australasia Pty Ltd 2007  MR  BAKER 

safety officers, levels 1 through to 4, and if we exclude level 1, it’s level 2, 3 and 4, and 
the claim before the commission deals with the same remuneration for the four 
employees subject to this application do the same work as the employees who come 
from the career firefighting background.  Are you saying to this commission that those 
four, or those employees who comprise levels 2, 3 and 4 are to be paid at either the 5 
station officer level, or the senior station officer level collectively?---I believe they 
should be remunerated at a level equivalent to their colleagues within this - within the 
same unit same unit they work regardless of whether they come from operations, or 
employed under the community fire safety officer, day in/day out they do the same - 
perform the same functions. 10 
 
So what you are in fact saying is that currently where you have a community fire safety 
officer, level 2, on $52,094 for example, of 51, it doesn’t really matter, but wherever the 
salary band finishes there, are you saying that if that person is doing the same job as a 
senior station officer who’s doing that work they should be paid that level of pay, 15 
$69,801?---The personnel that are employed under that classification don’t do the same 
work, they undertake work to the level of a leading firefighter, or a station officer. 
 
Or a station officer;  okay, well, so they should be paid a station officer rate of pay and 
at your level they should be paid at senior station officer levels? 20 
 
MR WARWICK:   Sir, I would ask that Mr Baker restrict him to questions about Mr 
Mackrell’s job and his level.  Mr Mackrell’s not in a position to answer claims about - 
answer questions about the claims in relation to employees at other levels. 
 25 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Other than his other classification? 
 
MR WARWICK:   Yes. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I think that’s a fair comment. 30 
 
MS PEARCE:   Except to the extent perhaps, Commissioner, that Mr Mackrell is the 
supervisor of the instructors and so should be expected to have a level of understanding 
of what - - -  
 35 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I’ll allow the - - -  
 
MS PEARCE:   - - - of what the salary is and the work that’s done there and the 
comparisons of how those employment arrangements work.  He is responsible for the 
work they do. 40 
 
MR WARWICK:   The question is about the union’s claim. 
 
MR BAKER:   Well, in relation to the union’s claim I just want to understand it.  Now, I 
think it’s fair - - -  45 
 
MR WARWICK:   Well, by all means ask Mr Mackrell about his classification. 
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THE COMMISSIONER:   I think it’s reasonable for opposition.  So far as this evidence 
is concerned - - -  
 
MR BAKER:   Yes. 
 5 
THE COMMISSIONER:   - - - I will accept that that is not the end of the debate.  The 
witness evidence, in reality, can only relate to his own classification. 
 
MR BAKER:   Now, I’ll just - I’ll re-ask the question:  insofar as you are concerned, Mr 
Mackrell, you are seeking to be paid at the senior station officer level.  Let’s not, you 10 
know, not put a final point on, that’s the claim, is it not?---I’m seeking to be remunerated 
at a level, the same level as Mr Rob Vallance and Mr Peter Ockerby who undertake the 
same job, role, functions as myself. 
 
And what classification are they?---They are classified as senior station officers, in fact, 15 
they’re at pay point 9. 
 
Now, and I’ll conclude on this question:  as the senior instructor where do you see your 
subordinates being remunerated?  At what level do you see your subordinates 
removed?---Mr Baker, I’m a senior consultant, I’m not a senior instructor. 20 
 
I’m sorry, senior consultant?---Can you ask the question again, please? 
 
Then what - at what level do you see then the consultants being remunerated 
at?---Within the unit I work with we don’t have consultants, we have instructors;  we 25 
have instructor/consultants.  Currently, instructor/consultants are remunerated at the 
level of station officer, pay point 8 under the award.  They preside in the southern 
region and I don’t have any instructor/consultants in the northern region and the 
personnel that work in the northern region undertake instructor/instructor consultants-
type roles.  One of them is currently remunerated at the community fire safety, level 2, 30 
and the other is a leading firefighter on transfer from Launceston Fire Brigade.  They 
have a requirement to undertake the same functions as their colleagues in the south, and 
there is one instructor/consultant in the north west, a station officer. 
 
Thank you, Mr Mackrell.  I’ve no further questions, Commissioner. 35 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Ms Pearce? 
 
MS PEARCE:   No questions, thank you, Commissioner. 
 40 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Mr Mackrell, you started to answer a question which 
for the sake of certainty I’m interested in the answer.  If you take Mr Ockerby and the 
other employee who you’re comparing yourself with, what’s his name?---Mr Rod 
Vallance, Commissioner. 
 45 
Mr Vallance.  Do they work shift-work?---No, they don’t, Commissioner. 
 
Do they work weekends?---No, they don’t, Commissioner. 
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Do they work public holidays?---Good question, Commissioner.  I can’t answer that, I’m 
not sure.  I know they have had some off but I’m not actually sure whether they - they 
do work them, or not. 
 
Do they work a 42-hour week?---They do work a 42-hour week, or they work a cyclic 5 
period over eight weeks and they’ll manage their time, but on per average it’ll work out 
to 42 hours a week. 
 
And what do you work per week?---At this point in time, on average, it is supposed to 
be, I think from memory, 38. 10 
 
Do you wish to cross on that, Mr Baker? 
 
MR BAKER:   No, sir, I think it’s - I think it’s perfectly clear. 
 15 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Warwick? 
 
 
<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR WARWICK  
 20 
 
MR WARWICK:   Mr Mackrell, are you an expert in industrial relations?---No, Mr 
Warwick, I’m not. 
 
Do you have any qualifications in that area?---None at all, Mr Warwick. 25 
 
Have you ever been involved in a work value wage-fixing process before?---Only in 
this process, Mr Warwick. 
 
Work value and relativities, those expressions, would you say that you’re able to express 30 
expert opinions about what the expression "salaries are based on skills, competency and 
training", are you an expert in that area?---No, I’m not an expert in that area. 
 
And, in particular, the question of - obviously, you have an expertise in training, 
obviously, but I’m talking about salaries being set;  okay?---No, not from an industrial 35 
relations point of view, Mr Warwick, no. 
 
You would be familiar with the award you work under?---Reasonably.  I can’t quote it 
verbatim though, Mr Warwick. 
 40 
No, of course not, none of us can, but the last time you looked did you see anything in 
the award about shift-work premiums?---No, my understanding is that the composite 
wage is just that, it’s a wage.  I haven’t - - -  
 
Would you contest me if I said that the list of things on the bottom of exhibit R9: 45 
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 Shift-work premium, weekend penalty rates, public holiday loading, 42-hour 
week compensation- 

 
would you contest me if I put it to you that they have not appeared in the award for 15 
years?---No, I wouldn’t, Mr Warwick. 5 
 
Have you ever seen anything like that in the award yourself?---No, I haven’t, Mr 
Warwick. 
 
So do you think that, therefore, you would be able to express an expert opinion about 10 
them?---No, I can’t, Mr Warwick, this is the first time I’ve seen them. 
 
The commissioner asked you about Mr Ockerby and Mr Vallance and your 
understanding is that they’re paid at pay point 9;  was that the answer you gave?---That’s 
correct, Mr Warwick. 15 
 
They’re senior station officers;  is that right?---That’s correct, Mr Warwick. 
 
Now, to your knowledge did Mr Vallance go from being a station officer to a senior 
station officer when he was on shift?---No, my understanding was that he was - Mr 20 
Vallance was promoted to a station officer whilst he was in - with his current duties at 
TasFire Training within Community Fire Safety. 
 
And did he obtain the operational competencies that would be required of a station 
officer on shift going to advancing to a senior station officer?---Mr Warwick, I’m not 25 
100 per cent sure what he would have acquired but I can only assume that, knowing that 
it wasn’t a requirement at the time he would not have acquired the operational 
competencies for that promotion. 
 
Well, would you contest me if I put it to you that he most certainly did not?---No, I 30 
wouldn’t. 
 
Mr Ockerby, and this - he does an equivalent job to you, you say?---The same. 
 
Now, I’m sorry, I need to go back to Mr Vallance, I’m sorry, and we’ll come to Mr 35 
Ockerby.  And could you remind the commissioner how long you have worked in 
TasFire Training?---Approximately four years, Commissioner. 
 
Four years.  In that time has Mr Vallance gone back to shift that you know of?---No, not 
once that I’m aware of, Mr Warwick. 40 
 
Would you contradict me - would you say I’m wrong if Mr - if I put it to you that Mr 
Vallance hasn’t been on shift for at least 11 years?---No, I wouldn’t, Mr Warwick. 
 
Let’s come to Mr Ockerby then.  He is also paid at pay point 9, senior station officer;  is 45 
that correct?---Yes, Mr Warwick, that’s my understanding. 
 
And - - -  
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MR BAKER:   Objection, Commissioner. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   What’s the objection? 
 
MR BAKER:   The objection that we never - never led the evidence. 5 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well - - -  
 
MR BAKER:   I mean, this is just, you know, we came here today with a specific set 
criteria - - -  10 
 
MR WARWICK:   That’s preposterous.  You’ve tabled an exhibit that talks about shift-
work, weekend penalty rates, public holiday loadings. 
 
MR BAKER:   Precisely. 15 
 
MR WARWICK:   You have raised the issue, Mr Baker. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   And you have asked a question about what is precisely the 
claim, you know, I think it’s a valid question.  If you think it’s immaterial then I’ll give 20 
you another go at cross-examination.  Please proceed. 
 
MR WARWICK:   Thank you, Commissioner. 
 
Are you aware of the circumstances under which Mr Ockerby was originally employed 25 
into TasFire Training?---Yes, I am, Mr Warwick. 
 
And at what level, in your understanding, was he employed?---My understanding, from 
memory, is Mr Ockerby was employed at the level of station officer and his position 
was 50 per cent training and 50 per cent burning consultancy, from memory. 30 
 
And obviously, do you know Mr Ockerby well?---I know Mr Ockerby extremely well.  
We have worked on the same training ground for numerous years with other employers. 
 
Yes.  Mr Ockerby does have a background as a career firefighter, does he not?---If my 35 
memory serves me right, Mr Ockerby left the Fire Service approximately 13 years ago 
as a senior firefighter. 
 
Yes, but your evidence is that he came back what, say, five years ago, something like 
that?---Approximately seven years ago Mr Ockerby was employed as a station officer, 40 
Mr Warwick. 
 
Station officer;  and how did he become a senior station officer?---I’m not 100 per cent 
sure, Mr Warwick.  My understanding is he basically made application and he had to 
potentially acquire some pay points.  I believe he needs to maintain pay point 6 under 45 
the award, but he is currently remunerated at pay point 9. 
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And, to your knowledge, did he do the competencies required - that would be required 
of a station officer working shift-work to advance to senior station officer?---To my 
knowledge, no, Mr Warwick. 
 
When was the last time, in your understanding of things, did Mr Ockerby last work 5 
shift-work?---My understanding is Mr Ockerby last stint at shift-work would have been 
approximately 13 years ago as an employee of the Tasmanian Fire Service. 
 
Before he left?---Before he left. 
 10 
Thank you, Mr Mackrell. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Baker, is there anything that you consider new in that 
that you want to cross on? 
 15 
MR BAKER:   Well, no, I think most of it was actually covered on the last occasion. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, okay.  Well, there’s no need to take it any further.  
Thank you, Mr Mackrell, you’re excused?---Thank you. 
 20 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.03 pm] 
 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Baker, my program says the next witness is Mr Andrew 25 
Comer, but it’s listed for 2 o’clock;  what’s the position? 
 
MS PEARCE:   Mr Comer’s available earlier, Commissioner, if we want to proceed 
earlier.  He was going to be around so - - -  
 30 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Right. 
 
MS PEARCE:   I lined him up for the 12.30 - somewhere between 12.30 and 2, so he 
should be available. 
 35 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Sorry? 
 
MS PEARCE:   I lined him up for somewhere between 12.30 and 2 so he should be 
available if we need to go - - -  
 40 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Okay.  Well, if he’s available we may as well make a start 
anyway. 
 
MS PEARCE:   Yes.  Do you want a short break while I go - - -  
 45 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, we’ll have a short break. 
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ADJOURNED [12.05 pm] 
 
 
RESUMED [12.15 pm] 
 5 
 
<ANDREW COMER, SWORN [12.15 pm] 
 
 
<EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS PEARCE 10 
 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Baker? 
 
MR BAKER:   I defer to my colleague for the examination. 15 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Ms Pearce? 
 
MS PEARCE:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner. 
 20 
Mr Comer, could you please tell the commission what your current position is?---I’m 
currently Regional Chief North. 
 
And what previous positions have you held?---Working backwards, previous position 
was deputy regional chief north.  Prior to that I was district officer of operations, 25 
Launceston Fire Brigade;  district officer in Tamar district, northern region;  district 
officer, or possibly manager, depending on the title at the time, for training services;  
worked through the ranks to training officer and prior to that station office at 
Launceston Fire Brigade and I’ve held a little - few little portfolios in between.  I’ve 
spent some time in building fire safety and I guess I started as a firefighter with the 30 
Launceston Fire Brigade back in 1980. 
 
So is it fair to say you have had a wide range of experience within the Tasmania Fire 
Service?---I think so. 
 35 
Your total years of employment would be?---27 and a half. 
 
Thank you.  Can you tell us just broadly what the responsibilities of the regional chief 
north are, please?---It’s a senior executive position in northern region basically looking 
to manage the overall activities within the north, making sure that, from an operational 40 
point of view the brigades, career or volunteer, have got a response capability.  There 
are a number of support areas that operate in the region, engineering services;  training, 
or learning development as it’s called now;  fire investigation;  things like that that I 
need to make sure are managed on a day-to-day and long-term basis that they can 
provide the necessary level of support to operational crews;  manage the budgets for the 45 
region;  look after the people issues, human services issues;  generally just keep the 
strategic direction of the region in line with the needs of the overall Tasmania Fire 
Service, broadly. 
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Thank you.  So you have got a very good handle on what the emergency response 
requirements are for the northern region and how we need to resource those?---I would 
suggest a reasonable - - -  
 
Reasonable - - -?--- - - - level of understanding, yes. 5 
 
Okay.  So how does the Tasmania Fire Service provide emergency response services to 
the community in the northern region?---Okay, well, primarily through two means.  We 
would have calls come in either through a tripe O system or a direct alarm system that 
would be monitored through our Fire Com in Hobart, the dispatch centre, they would 10 
respond relevant crews, the most appropriate brigade for the particular call that they 
have got;  we have volunteer or career brigades, we train up our people to respond to 
that.  And then they would head out and deal with the issue. 
 
Okay.  And so how many career firefighters do you have in the northern region and 15 
how many volunteer firefighters?---Rough numbers - it varies a little bit, I suppose, a 
little bit around the edges but I think we have got about 56 career firies attached to 
Launceston Brigade;  18 officers and seven DO, district officers, and a deputy.  We 
have roughly 15, 1600 volunteers.  Again, it varies a little bit from time to time and 
probably about 20 or 30 support staff one way or another.  Pretty rough figures but 20 
that’s generally the case. 
 
Do volunteer members some time apply - sometimes apply for paid positions within the 
Tasmania Fire Service?  Is that characteristic?---Yes, when I was in the field in 
particular in Tamar District, there were quite a number that applied from time to time 25 
for career full-time positions and provided some support for them to do that.  
Anecdotally, I know of quite a number of other people throughout the region that apply 
from time to time, in fact, some have been successful in getting a full-time job so, yes, 
that happens. 
 30 
What type of full-time jobs do they tend to apply for?---Pretty well straight into the 
firefighting ranks.  That’s primarily how we recruit.  I guess we recruit people into 
administration positions and things like that, but volunteer firefighters tend to want to 
be career firefighters and that’s typically where they apply. 
 35 
And do they apply for other positions as well in other support areas outside 
administration?---I think - yes, I think some would apply for TFE, TasFire Equipment.  
Some might apply for engineering services.  I know one volunteer at Gravelly Beach 
was a mechanic by trade, applied for that.  Occasionally want to pick up jobs, I don’t 
recall it now, but maintenance-type positions.  A few volunteers have been interested in 40 
doing the job that Max Howard does now, and things like that. 
 
And generally when they come and join the Fire Service they bring with them then the 
range of underpinning knowledge that they have gained as a volunteer?---Yes.  Yes. 
 45 
Okay.  Once they have joined the Fire Service do we ask them to stop being 
volunteers?---No, in fact, personally and probably anecdotally again, it’s generally 
encouraged that they maintain that.  I can think of a number of people that have come 
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into the service from volunteer ranks that I’m aware of and they continue on, and we 
encourage that as a service which I would set an example.  We ask other employers to 
let their people go and I think we, you know, we ought to be setting an example and 
doing the same sort of thing and I certainly do that, personally.  I can think of a number 
of people and I think two that you might be particularly interested in, of course, Phil 5 
Mackrill and Andrew Francombe, but there’s a number of others, David Moyer, Paul 
Beechie, Phil, not Phil Grant, Matthew Grant who’s working out here at the moment, a 
volunteer before he came as a full-time firefighter, working in the field now as a your 
leading firefighter, and they would be encouraged frequently and supported to maintain 
their volunteer skills and involvement and participation. 10 
 
So you mentioned Andrew Francombe and Phil Mackrell within that, so given that 
they’re working in TasFire Training and, in particular, then they’re also volunteer 
members that apply for positions of that nature as well that aren’t firefighting 
positions?---Yes, I think - I think Phil came directly into TasFire Training.  I think that’s 15 
- that’s his - that was his entry to the full-time service.  Andrew, I think from memory, 
started in TFE.  I think I actually dealt with Andrew when I was in training services 
before and I sort of knew him through that mechanism and then he came into TFE, and 
then I think he transferred from there - I’m not sure how that occurred but he transferred 
from TFE into TasFire Training as a - you know, to do that job. 20 
 
Yes, and would have encouraged them to maintain their volunteer - - -?---Yes.  Yes, 
still - - -  
 
- - - status and volunteer competencies - - -?---Yes. 25 
 
- - - through that?---Yes. 
 
Okay.  We found evidence that last fire season Andrew Francombe was contacted out 
of hours and asked to be a sector commander at the Tippogoree Hills fire?---Right. 30 
 
Would it be unusual for a person of Andrew’s status to be contacted out of hours about 
participating in an emergency incident?---No, he’s a Brigade Chief at Piper’s Brook so I 
would imagine a DO, or someone would have, you know, a normal response would 
probably either go looking for particular types of people to do certain roles.  However, 35 
if it was in their skill level they might be contacted and asked.  Tippogoree Hills is not - 
is up the north east here probably not far from Andrew’s brigade anyway, it would be 
part of that group, would probably respond.  And probably would have even - surprising 
even if it was a big fire not been there already.  So, yes - no, would be requested to 
attend and fulfil a role and brigade chief, yes, that level would be expected to handle a 40 
sector commander’s job. 
 
And brigade chief for Andrew Francombe is his volunteer status?---That’s his status, 
yes, sorry. 
 45 
Yes, okay.  Are volunteers generally asked to be sector commanders?---Yes, actually 
they demand it.  They frequently want to be involved.  They think it’s their patch.  They 
have the knowledge, the - you know, the understanding of the locale and the region.  
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They understand fires that have happened there before.  I wouldn’t say the average 
volunteer, if a, you know, a first or second year firefighter would be asked to do that 
role.  You would have to be, you know, have been around for a fair while, have a fair 
bit of experience.  Brigade chiefs are generally at that level, generally, not always, and 
we would expect someone with Andrew’s standing at least in the volunteer ranks to be 5 
able to handle a sector commander’s job.  A sector commander’s job, by the way, can be 
this big, or this big and there might be a point at which even Andrew’s skills might be 
tested, but for the average run-of-the-mill-type fire that, yes, I wouldn’t see that as being 
very unusual, yes. 
 10 
Okay.  So we heard evidence that volunteers generally are used as sector commanders 
but as the person responsible for managing the region we would use them in those 
roles?---Yes.  As I say, there would be a degree of selection about that.  As I say, the 
job can be this big, or quite a big larger in complexity, and could be a geographic 
complex, and it could be simply the nature of the fire rigs that they’re dealing with could 15 
be complex.  So it’s, I would say it’s highly frequent, you know, happens every day but 
certainly there was an expectation that officers, particularly brigade chiefs within 
brigades could well be asked to manage a sector within a fire.  That’s fairly, well, in my 
view, reasonably common, yes. 
 20 
And how would the brigade chief, or other officer who may undertake that role, how 
would they get the competencies, or the knowledge to undertake that role?---Oh, look, 
they would probably a lot of that up through their volunteer training.  As you move up 
the ranks in the volunteer areas you get exposed to more courses and, you know, things 
like supervise response, things like that, would be used to give them, you know, 25 
technical skills on the ground in managing crews - they do crew leader courses, those 
sorts of things would be used to give them the skill and obviously experience they get 
through going to fires;  coaching from either the DO, or other operational staff that are 
out there, or people within their brigade that have perhaps been there and done it before 
would give them that sort of skill.  There would be other courses - I don’t know what 30 
exact courses Andrew would have attended but, supervise response would certainly 
come to mind;  wild fire response, or I think it’s "respond to urban and rural fires", or 
something like that.  They change the names of these so I get lost with them all, but 
there’s a range of skills required as a firefighter, as a leading firefighter, an officer and 
ones as you move up to a brigade chief and group officer, where you would have a 35 
broader expectation of running more than just a truck.  There would be a series of units 
out there in the field. 
 
So it’s a combination then of competencies and experience gained in that volunteer 
context?---Yes. 40 
 
Okay, thank you.  Do you recall the fire that occurred last fire season at 
Ravenswood?---Yes. 
 
You do;  we have heard evidence that you asked Andrew Francombe and Phillip 45 
Mackrell to attend that fire;  is that correct?---Yes, that’s right. 
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Yes.  Why did you ask Andrew Francombe and Phillip Mackrell to attend that 
fire?---The circumstances were that Launceston Brigade and some volunteer brigades 
around the - around the district, as we call Launceston Brigade a district, it’s not too big 
but it’s a district nonetheless, and there had been a fire in the eastern suburbs, in 
Ravenswood, that was threatening a series of homes and the radio messages I was 5 
listening to there was quite a deal of panic, I use that word judiciously, but certainly 
there was demand from all vehicles and personnel to be up there and assisting.  It wasn’t 
chronic but it was heading towards that way and we had responded, I think, eight or 
nine brigades from around the area.  We were down to myself and the deputy regional 
chief, pretty well the only ones on site other than Phil and Andrew at the time, and we 10 
have a couple of spare vehicles sometimes, if they’re not out there being used for 
something else, so I requested Andrew and Phil to get into the trucks, take them up 
there.  I knew they could drive them, no problem with that.  Their knowledge, you 
know, their volunteer aspects would be that they could contribute in some effective way 
up there and I think - I can’t remember the exact words, but I think I asked them to 15 
respond up there with the trucks, lend some assistance in whatever way they could to 
report to the incident controller up there, I think it was Danny O’Donnell but I’m not 
100 per cent certain, and assist where necessary, or where they could.  After that, I don’t 
know what happened to them. 
 20 
Okay.  Why did you ask Andrew and Phil to attend?  Why those two 
individuals?---Yes, well, they were the only ones there for one thing.  More 
importantly, they were volunteers.  I knew that they could do the job.  We needed 
resources up there.  We were pretty well strapped.  We had had, I think, two or three 
other fires happening around the same time.  I think St Mary’s was going.  We had a 25 
couple of other fires in the north east there that were, you know, taking away resources.  
So if you look around and look at Perth and Longford and White Hills and all those 
locations, all those ones were requested to respond, which they did.  I think we had 22 
trucks there in 20 minutes which was pretty good, and we needed some more, or I 
thought we needed some more.  I wasn’t quite sure how many were going to arrive and 30 
with two trucks here, two personnel, one in each, away you go.  And knowing that they 
could competently go up there as volunteers, given their background, I know both of 
them, they were sent.  So it was a sort of a needs basis on, you know, and knowledge 
that they could do the job as - their volunteer knowledge and skill, yes. 
 35 
Yes.  So it was because of their volunteer knowledge and skill?---Yes. 
 
Not because of the role that they hold?---No. 
 
Okay?---I mean, I would say that probably their - the things that they do on a day-to-40 
day basis here, and I’m not familiar totally with what they do, would probably give a 
degree of proficiency with that but, I mean, as far as I’m aware they don’t train here for 
that particular role.  They’re not - I don’t - wouldn’t use them, for instance, send back on 
shift, but knowing that there was going to be a pack, I’ll say a pack of volunteers 
coming from different brigades, that they were volunteer members, they could 45 
confidently, you know, contribute to that overall effort, that’s why they were sent, yes. 
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Thank you.  Do you recall a former employee of the Tasmania Fire Service by the name 
of Phillip Kean?---Yes, I’m aware of Phil, yes. 
 
What was his role?---Look, I think he was the instructor with TasFire Training.  I, you 
know, obviously because he worked on the premises here I crossed paths with him.  I 5 
must say I didn’t have a lot to do with him - pretty well did the same role as Andrew, I 
think, pretty well. 
 
Right.  Same role as Andrew Francombe?---I believe so.  I don’t know whether they had 
particular areas of skill that they focussed on, or not, yes, but - - -  10 
 
Did Phil have a background as a volunteer firefighter?---I’m not aware that he did.  I 
don’t believe he did. 
 
Right.  So would you, in that same situation, have asked Phillip Kean to respond?---No.  15 
If I was aware that he could drive a truck up there and drop it off I would have asked 
him to do that. 
 
Yes?---But, as I don’t know him, or didn’t know him all that well, I - if I did anything 
with him I’m going to have to find out what he knew, but I would imagine that he’s not 20 
a volunteer, there’s not a lot he could have done up there, yes, so I wouldn’t have 
probably sent him, in terms of an operational response.  He might have been asked to 
deliver a truck up, or perhaps food, or water, or something like that, much like Graeme 
Ritchard, he’s in town, but as far as operating on the ground as a firefighter, no. 
 25 
Yes.  Could you, just for the commission’s benefit, can you - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - say who Graeme Ritchard is and what his role is?---Oh, Graeme Ritchard’s a utility 
officer, don’t like that name, but a utility officer in at Launceston Fire Brigade, basically 
just looks after a number of areas at the store;  drives a utility which is, I suppose if I 30 
call him a utility officer, but he delivers the post - post up every day and just runs 
around, picks things up, go to sort of persons to get things and deliver things around like 
that.  So he works in that - in that sort of - that’s his role.  He looks after some data bases 
for us and I think he can - I think he can actually do some mapping for us as well, but 
generally, he just, I don’t know what you call them nowadays, as general - I call them 35 
Man Friday but I don’t suppose I’m allowed to say that any more, but that’s - that’s the 
role.  Sorry about that. 
 
Okay.  So it’s, from what - so what you’re saying then is there is nothing in, that you’re 
aware of, in Phillip Kean’s background that would have given you the confidence to 40 
respond him in any operational sense?---No. 
 
Yes?---No, I don’t believe - my understanding was he wasn’t a volunteer.  And the same 
with TFE, if there had been TFE people on the side at the time, which there weren’t, I 
would have probably used them if they were able to drive a truck.  I know one of them, 45 
for instance, Steve Heathcote, he was an officer, a career officer some years ago, he 
might have been asked to deliver a truck up there, or do that, but generally, no.  Sorry, 
I’m probably tapping on that.  So it was - I knew Andrew and I knew Phil were 
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volunteers and could do a volunteer firefighting job up there, but anyone else on the 
site, admin staff, no, it wouldn’t have crossed my mind, yes. 
 
And in responding them as volunteers would it have been your intention then to have 
docked their pay because they were no longer acting as a paid employee?---No.  No. 5 
 
Why not?---No, it wouldn’t have crossed my mind.  In fact, I don’t know what happened 
with their pay but there’s no - certainly, no.  The answer’s no and the reason is that we 
would - we, again, setting an example which I said before, we ask other employees to 
let their people go and we ought to do the same and I think we do, and that’s, you know, 10 
very much our ethos, I suppose, that we encourage our people wherever they are from, 
to go out and be involved in fires.  We demonstrated that pretty - pretty well last 
summer, I think, that we want people to go out and be involved irrespective of where 
they sit, admin, or any services, or whatever, they contribute in whatever ways they can, 
yes. 15 
 
Thank you, Mr Comer.  Just on a different tack, within the northern region you’re 
responsible for the operational officers?---Mm. 
 
Are there operational officers who have moved from shift-work to undertake non-20 
rostered shift-work within the northern region?---Oh, yes.  Yes. 
 
And in areas such as Community Fire Safety?---Yes.  Happens fairly regularly.  We 
have got - we have got a fire - a leading firefighter now that’s in TFT, TasFire Training.  
We have got firefighters operating in Community Ed.  We have got officers out here in 25 
training services.  We used to have officers out in Building Fire Safety but we don’t do 
that now in the north, we do it in the south, I think.  Yes, so there are people that have 
come from the shift-work to operation - oh, sorry, day work, or non-rostered shift-work 
positions, yes. 
 30 
Why don’t you do it in building safety any more?---There’s only one position and it was 
filled by Daniel Gregg who hasn’t come from the operational side of the service.  He 
was - he come from Midlands, Northern Midlands Council I think, as a - and he was a 
building surveyor, I think what he was and he hasn’t come out of the career brigade, 
so - - -  35 
 
Are you aware of the reasons why it was advertised in that manner for a person 
- - -?---No, not really. 
 
Okay, thank you.  What’s your practice in relation to the maintenance of the operational 40 
competencies of the officers who are working in non-rostered shift-work 
positions?---So what do I do if someone comes out? 
 
Yes?---Oh, look, there - - -  
 45 
How do you make sure they maintain their operational competencies - - -?---Right, 
okay. 
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- - - or don’t you worry about it?---Oh, no, I do worry about it.  Most of the time there’s 
an expectation.  I’ll use Belinda Harvey as an example because it’s probably the easiest 
one.  She, Belinda works in Community Ed which is essentially from the northern 
regional perspective.  She goes out and delivers training, or education to the schools, 
primary and high schools, and while she might do that on a general day-to-day basis we 5 
have an understanding, I suppose, that she will go back to shift-work from time to time, 
might be a week, or a fortnight, or during the school break, or at the end of the school 
year she’ll go back in the summer periods and maintain her skill;  (a) she likes it;  (b) I 
want it to happen because I think it’s important that, you know, firies, for instance, keep 
their skills up, and we can facilitate it.  We can actually allow that to occur.  Now, in the 10 
middle of a school year she is probably not going to go back and do that, she’ll do it in 
the breaks, but if she was pretty keen to go back and get some particular skill then I 
might facilitate her to go back and someone else to come out.  In terms of other people, 
if the trainers, and, as I say the people in training services, they rotate through it pretty 
quickly.  We try not to have them out here much longer than 12 months so, generally 15 
speaking, they can sort of take 12 months out and go back, but if they’re out here longer, 
Peter, for instance, was out here for three years, he went back from time to time and got 
his skills up.  Darren Berry was in TasFire Training for a time;   I think he went back.  
So whilst it’s not formalised and planned and written down so that there were blocks 
throughout the year, we will try and get them rotated through, for two reasons, (a) that 20 
they keep their skill up, and (b) to expose some other people from the career brigades to 
those areas as well. 
 
And the same will happen with Shane Streets who’s currently out here - - -?---Yes. 
 25 
- - - in a leading firefighter position?---Yes.  Yes, Shane came out, I think, only arrived 
a few months back, probably will go back before the six months is up.  Six months, 
where they come out for a six-months block they don’t use their skills that much in six 
months, I wouldn’t think, and the chances of having to rotate through are probably 
minimal there.  Twelve months, or longer, you start to drop off, things change and you 30 
might need to rotate them through on a bit more of a plan basis.  The fieldies are the 
same. 
 
Fieldies being?---Oh, sorry, the fields works officers - sorry about my jargon, and they, 
you know, we have ensured in the last two or three years when I was DO Ops, District 35 
Officer Operations and carried it through when I was Deputy Regional Chief and now 
into my Regional Chief role, is that all those non-rostered shift-workers actually go on 
to the roster in town.  We trialled a couple of different ways to do that but essentially 
they were on the roster and they can get called in.  And whilst I don’t monitor them too 
closely I do believe they are called in from time to time and, in fact, only a couple of 40 
weeks ago I think Rodney Springer, who’s one of the field - fields works officers, went 
back in a did a night, or whatever, on overtime.  So for that reason, to keep that 
flexibility we need to have them rotating through. 
 
And that same principle applies to those operational officers in TasFire Training who 45 
would have worked in TasFire Training?---Yes, we - I’m just trying to think where we 
have actually had an officer in TasFire Training up here? 
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Well, take for example Darren Berry, who was the last one?---Yes. 
 
Or Shane Streets?---Yes. 
 
Would Shane Streets be called back into overtime?---Yes.  Yes. Yes, still on the roster. 5 
 
Yes?---Yes.  Yes, Shane’s a leading firefighter. 
 
Yes?---So I don’t actually think, from memory, that there’s been an officer in TasFire 
Training.  I think they have been a firefighter.  Shane - Darren Berry was a senior 10 
firefighter;  Shane’s a leading firefighter.  And the difference is, a senior is just at the top 
end of their technical skills as a firefighter;  a leading firefighter is someone who’s 
qualified to be appointed to an officer position on merit, if you’re not aware. 
 
Yes?---Yes. 15 
 
But we do get them going back and working overtime?---Yes. 
 
Yes?---Yes. 
 20 
Okay.  You mentioned the last time we had an officer here.  From my recollection the 
last time was probably Mr Ian McLaughlin?---Oh, yes. 
 
Who was an officer in TasFire Training?---Yes, things were a little different then, I 
suppose, but yes, that was TasFire Training as it was, yes, and Ian was a - came out as a 25 
station officer from Launceston. 
 
And his role in TasFire Training was?---I think he, in that era which was probably four 
or five years ago now, he sort of performed two roles.  He went out and marketed and 
got business in and in some cases delivered training, so he performed, I guess in current 30 
terms, would have been an instructor and whatever Phil’s called - - -  
 
Senior consultant?---Consultant, yes. 
 
Senior consultant?---So he performed both roles, consultant and an instructor role, yes. 35 
 
Yes.  I think he had a role as a senior consultant was his position?---Oh, yes, I think - 
yes, he did. 
 
How familiar are you with the circumstances surrounding Mr McLaughlin’s return to 40 
operational duties?---Oh, I was, yes, a little bit. 
 
Okay.  So familiar enough for me to ask you some questions - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - to the best of your knowledge?---Yes.  Yes. 45 
 
Okay?---I’ve sworn on the Bible, yes. 
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Okay.  How long do you believe Mr McLaughlin was probably out in TasFire Training 
for?---I suggest five or six years.  Now, I’ve picked that up because he started in there 
after I - I was in training in ’88, finished up in ’95;  geez, you’re testing me now.  And 
Ian started about the midway of that so probably early ’90s, and was back in LFB 
before, in DO Ops, so that would have been 2000, so somewhere around that - - -  5 
 
2004?--- - - - maybe a little longer - - -  
 
Okay?--- - - - five, six, seven years, something like that. 
 10 
Yes?---Somewhere in that bracket, yes. 
 
All right.  So I think you returned in about 2003?---Right. 
 
Somewhere around there?---Right, okay. 15 
 
Okay.  So we’re talking seven, seven to ten years?---A fair while.  I know he was out for 
a far while, too long.  I remember talking to him about it because I had been in training 
a long time.  I remember talking to him about the fact that he needed to probably get 
back to ops - operations. 20 
 
So you said he came out as a station officer?---Yes. 
 
Do you know what classification he held when he returned to operations?---He went 
back as a station officer.  There was - - -  25 
 
What was his substantive classification though - - -?---He - he - - -  
 
- - - in TasFire Training when he left?---I believe when he was in TasFire Training he - 
there was arrangements, I suppose, to do with some career progression where he was 30 
paid at, and I think wore the rank of senior station officer and obtained competencies 
throughout that period.  What they were I don’t really know. 
 
Yes?---Ian’s a personal friend of mine so we talked about a range of things from time to 
time and I was aware that he had gained some competencies and was paid at a higher 35 
level, at senior station officer.  When he went to go back to operations some of those 
competencies - or he didn’t have sufficient competencies to be paid at substantively 
SSO and I believe he embarked on a program of quite a number of modules to get him 
up to SSO rank, but he went back and within a short space of time - he was right into 
gear as an S - oh, sorry, he was responding as a station office from Launceston Fire 40 
Brigade not long after returning, but to get his payment to SSO required the acquisition 
of a number of competencies.  It was quite a number too, I believe. 
 
So approximately how long did it take before he was able to ride the gear as a station 
officer, which means respond to an emergency instead as a station officer?---Yes, look, 45 
exactly I wouldn’t know but it wouldn’t have been too long.  Maybe a few weeks, a 
month, maybe a couple of months.  I think it would have only been a fairly short space 
of time.  Ian was an officer of fairly lengthy experience. 
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Yes?---And had spent a considerable period of time in the service is it was fairly - fairly 
quick to get him back up.. 
 
Would it surprise you if I said that - no, we won’t go to what I would surprise you with.  
You mentioned that you believed that Mr McLaughlin was paid at a station officer.  If 5 
was to put to you that we continued paying Mr McLaughlin as a senior station officer 
but only had him working as a station officer until he gained the operational senior 
station - operational competencies, would that appear unusual to you if we were to do 
something like that?---Oh - - -  
 10 
In order to not disadvantage him?---Yes, if you said that’s what you did I would say 
that’s probably reasonably fair.  I wasn’t aware if that, in fact, was the case, that that 
actually happened, although, you know, reflecting back on comments that Ian probably 
made to me way back, that’s going back, yes, I don’t think he - yes, I wasn’t aware that 
he was - that his wage was taken back.  He didn’t say to me, "Oh, they’ve taken my 15 
money off me", or anything, so, yes, possible.  And I think that would be fair.  He had 
done - he had obviously done some work to get up to being paid at senior consultant 
level, and I’m always reasonably fair.  If someone’s at that level and, you know, I don’t 
think it’s unreasonable to think, well, if you give a commitment to go on and get SSO 
competencies in an operational sense and you were genuinely heading towards that, I 20 
think it would be, what’s the word, "supportive", to allow him to keep his salary on the 
proviso that he kept going to get that if he - through, you know, said, "No, I’m not going 
to do that, I just want to keep the money", then I would think I would probably have a 
different view of it.  But I know Ian was very committed to going on with getting SSO 
competencies, yes. 25 
 
Okay. So in summary then we’re saying that Mr McLaughlin went to TasFire Training 
as a station officer, gained competencies through a career arrangement in community 
fire safety to go to senior station officer, return to operational rank after about seven to 
ten years as a station officer but being paid SSO rates;  took him a month perhaps, to 30 
regain operational competence to be able to ride the gear to respond to an incident and 
then proceeded to gain his senior station officer operational competencies over a period 
of time?---Yes, and I don’t know how long, maybe 12 months, or something like that, I 
don’t know.  I don’t know.  I can’t remember. 
 35 
So Phillip Mackrell is currently the senior consultant in TasFire Training?---Yes, I think 
that’s his title, yes. 
 
If we were to ask Phillip Mackrell to go to shift-work as a station officer how long 
would it take him to gain the operational competencies to be able to undertake those 40 
duties?---Oh, years. 
 
Years?---Well, I suppose the competency-based arrangements is, if you move at your 
own pace and, you know, I mean, Phil hasn’t been - he hasn’t - didn’t come out of the 
operational - Phil hasn’t come out of the operational side of it.  Ian, at least, was a 45 
station officer when he came out so I would have to look at where Phil was at, what 
competencies he had in relation to our structure.  I don’t imagine there would be - I don’t 
imagine there would be too many. 
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Too many competencies that he would hold currently?---Too many he would hold that 
would allow him to be back on as a firefighter on shift, or an officer on shift.  I mean, I 
certainly would imagine years to become an officer.  Maybe if he’s intelligent and picks 
up skills you might get him up to speed for firefighter in a year, or two.  I would have to 
look at where he was at, but it wouldn’t be my view that they would just take him and 5 
put him back on shift because he hasn’t come from there.  He’s not qualified.  He hasn’t 
got all the skills necessary.  That would be my position.  And the same with Andrew 
Francombe, or any volunteer for that matter.  There’s no general way I would take a 
volunteer and put them on the shift.  There might be bits they can do.  They can drive a 
truck and operate a pump perhaps but - and maybe wear a BA, but there’s a lot of other 10 
things that they don’t get trained in. 
 
Yes?---So I would suggest that it’s a considerable period of time and it might depend on 
the individual as to how quickly that could happen, but it wouldn’t happen overnight, 
yes. 15 
 
Thank you.  I don’t have any further questions.  Thanks. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Comer, for your career firefighters what’s the 
recruitment process?---They, well, it takes about, you know, it’s varied a bit over the last 20 
10 or 15 years that I know of but, generally, somewhere around about three months 
period in Hobart, intensive training on - - -  
 
So you recruit someone with no background at all but presumably physically fit, 
etcetera?---Yes. 25 
 
And then what happens?---They - obviously they go through the interview process and 
selected, they go to Hobart and they start then a three, or four-month intensive program 
day in/day out, learning certain skills, you know.  Obviously, I hope I don’t go outside 
your frame of reference here, but operating vehicles and pumps, ladder work, breathing 30 
apparatus, hose-line, response procedures, all those sorts of things and then culminating 
in getting successfully through all those assessment phases and then being placed on to 
an urban station with a personal development plan for somewhere around the next 
probably two or three years, probably does it in 12-month blocks but for, you know, 
probably a two, or three-year period of gaining other competencies as they move up the 35 
organisational ladder through second and third and fourth year firefighter and so on. 
 
To borrow from Ms Pearce, when do they ride the gear?---Probably in terms of some of 
the skills, they would ride the gear not long after they arrived.  Some skills they don’t - 
they don’t drive the truck, for instance.  In an operational sense they would be mentored 40 
fairly closely;  generally given tasks with more experienced operators.  They generally 
wouldn’t be sent somewhere in a difficult situation on their own, or be expected to 
exercise knowledge and understanding that, clearly, would take some time to develop 
within them so they’re generally given a mentor and tasking associated with their - like 
the level of understanding and competence.  It can vary a little bit but that’s generally 45 
how we would look at it. 
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But in summary it’s three months intensive training and then on the job mentoring over 
the next two or three years;  is that the sort of pattern for a typical - - -?---Pretty well, 
yes, yes. 
 
Ms Pearce, do you wish to cross on that?---Yes. 5 
 
It’s only really for my own information, so I can understand it. 
 
MS PEARCE:   Yes, just a couple of points there. 
 10 
When you say they’re able to ride the gear not long after they arrive - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - is that not long after they arrive on shift after the three-month training 
program?---Yes.  Yes. 
 15 
Okay.  And how does "riding the gear" differ from a trainee firefighter who’s just 
finished their course as opposed to somebody who’s a station officer returning to shift to 
ride the gear?  What’s the difference?---Well, the difference is - well, I think I 
understand your question.  The trainee coming through the recruit course has virtually 
got no experiences on station response.  They don’t know where things are;  how we do 20 
business;  who the other people are we have to interact with and things like that, and 
even what they’re expectations are and I can give you any evidence about things that 
they have done.  They come out of a training course and they think, you know, black is 
black and white is white but very much greyer on shift.  You have got to use a bit of 
intuition and fill in the gaps sometimes.  A station officer that’s - or a leading firie that’s 25 
been in that environment and come out to training and then one or two years later, or 
whatever, goes back to shift, who’s got all that in-built knowledge with them, part of the 
culture, if I use that word, and generally understands how the business operates.  There 
might be some elements about their skills has dropped off.  We might have a new piece 
of equipment that wasn’t there when they left, or a slight change to procedure that has 30 
come in because it’s better dealt this way than what we used to do.  And those things are 
really what we’re about when someone comes back, about bringing them up to speed 
rather than studying them like a blank sheet of paper. 
 
And the station officer’s role when they go back would be to ride the gear as an 35 
operational officer leading the crew?---Yes. 
 
Yes, okay, and taking the responsibility of being in charge of the crew at the 
response?---Yes, that’s the station officer’s role. 
 40 
Thank you. 
 
MR WARWICK:   Commissioner, I’m not sure what this has got to do with your 
question? 
 45 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, let’s - I know the least about this of anyone in this 
room and so for my own information I’m just trying to get a general picture.  Now, I 
don’t know that - it’s been a long case and I don’t know that general information like this 
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is going to cause anyone harm other than taking up a few extra minutes, so if Ms Pearce 
wants to pursue it, that’s fair enough. 
 
MS PEARCE:   No, that was fine.  Mr Comer just finished answering what I was 
looking to establish anyway. 5 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Warwick, do you wish to cross now? 
 
MR WARWICK:   Yes, please.  I think we can probably finish not much after 1. 
 10 
 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WARWICK  
 
 
MR WARWICK:   Mr Comer, with the indulgence of Ms Pearce, could I ask you 15 
whether you were not a graduate and, indeed, a fellow of the Institute of Fire 
Engineers?---I’m a graduate and a member, I’m not a fellow, yes. 
 
That’s an international qualification, isn’t it?---Yes. 
 20 
And, in fact, in practice, would I be - would it be reasonable for me to say that that 
would be the highest level of operational firefighting qualification that really you can 
hold in Tasmania, leaving aside, theoretical - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - units of competence in the training package?---Yes.  I think it’s - - -  25 
 
Which don’t really exist?--- - - - it would be up there.  It’s certainly a fairly high 
qualification, yes. 
 
In fact, you have held an administrative role in relation to that qualification - - -?---I 30 
have. 
 
- - - as well for some considerable time?---Yes, that is correct. 
 
It’s not particularly germane to the case but I think it was worth noting on record. 35 
 
Mr Comer, you outlined for the commission a very wide range of responsibilities you 
have and they are significant, I think anyone would agree, but to clarify the commission 
- to clarify for the commission about one thing, are the employees employed in TasFire 
Training and building safety directly accountable to you?---I would suggest, no. 40 
 
Who would you suggest they’re directly accountable to?---They respond, or report back 
to their managers.  In the case of building fire safety has just changed.  There’s a 
manager in Hobart, it used to be Phil Oakley but it’s, I’m sorry, I’ve forgotten who he is 
now.  It’s - - -  45 
 
It’s okay?---They rotate it three-round and I’m not sure who we have got.  While I think 
it’s Andrew Lyons, no - no, it’s Justin Young I think now for building fire safety.  It’s 
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Andrew Lyons for TasFire Training and Phil Oakley has gone to TFE, I think.  I think 
that was the rotation.  It only happened a fortnight ago and I think my memory serves 
me correct. 
 
And I am right, or wrong in saying that those people that you just mentioned are 5 
accountable to Mr Killalea, or report to Mr Killalea?---Yes, I think - yes, that’s the line. 
 
Okay.  So, really, am I right in saying that those two areas aren’t - they don’t fall under 
northern regional management accountable - accountability in the reporting lines?---No, 
they’re reporting lines.  I guess I take the view that everyone in northern region is - I’m 10 
accountable for from an OH and S point of view in an overall management, I need to - I 
need to keep a handle on what’s going on because it has to stick with the overall 
strategic plan.  If I felt that what they were doing, or whatever was outside that I would 
have to either draw them into line myself, or do so through the relevant managers.  But 
in terms of a direct reporting line they don’t report directly to me. 15 
 
Yes.  You had a discussion with Ms Pearce about the Ravenswood fire.  When Mr 
Francombe and Mr Mackrell went what time of day was that, or perhaps I could 
- - -?---Yes, the after - the afternoon, I’m not quite sure. 
 20 
Was it during their normal working hours?---Yes, it was, yes. 
 
Well, the discussion you had with Ms Pearce was about them being requested to go, and 
please don’t read anything more into this than simply the words, but the evidence that 
Mr Francombe in particular was that it wasn’t a request, that you needed them there and 25 
you said, "I want you up there.  Do this for me."  So he took as not being a request but 
that you instructed him to do it?---Yes. 
 
Is that reasonable?---That’s reasonable. 
 30 
Yes.  You also had a discussion about sector commanders.  I recall about four and five 
years ago that all of the career firefighters, leading firefighters, sorry, career leading 
firefighters and officers were put specific through - specifically through service - sector 
commander training?---Yes. 
 35 
Did that go to senior firefighters as well?---No, I don’t think so. 
 
I can’t recall myself?---Crew leader, I think, would be - - -  
 
That’s right?---Yes. 40 
 
They did crew leader?---Crew leader training, yes. 
 
But all of the leading firefighters and officers did sector commander training?---Yes, 
well, I couldn’t say they all did that.  Yes, I’m not - because I swore on the Bible I can’t 45 
say exactly what did happen. 
 
No?---Yes. 
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I’m just trying to get it right in my own mind?---Yes. 
 
And I’m sorry?---There’s - yes. 
 
All the senior firefighters did crew leader training, that’s  correct, I think, isn’t it?---Yes, 5 
well, I don’t whether they all did, I mean, there may have been an intent. 
 
Yes?---I - it might have been that’s what we were targeting to do, or whether it actually 
happened and they all got it, I don’t know, but that’s certainly what - crew leaders were 
about someone on an appliance pretty well, leading a crew. 10 
 
Yes?---But when you talk sector commander you’re talking multiple crews, multiple 
appliances, or trucks. 
 
Yes?---And operating across a geographic zone with a particular fire. 15 
 
Okay?---Yes. 
 
So to the best you can, and I know it’s difficult but to the best you can, how many 
people would you say had been trained as sector commanders?---In the career? 20 
 
Well, probably overall?---Oh, no, look, I - no, it would almost be a guess.  If you’re 
happy to accept a guess I would say the bulk of our officers would have been trained, 
probably the bulk of our leading firefighters potentially, although it’s a bit of a guess.  
We don’t formally train the volunteers in sector commander. 25 
 
Right?---We haven’t got that point. 
 
Right?---But they’re - the changes that have occurred in the volunteer training 
framework would, at the top end, at the officer end, would give them some of those 30 
skills and knowledge for that. 
 
Yes?---But how, you know, if you ask me what was actually involved in the sector 
commander course I couldn’t tell you, but there are elements about leadership and, you 
know, commander control that would be - would permeate the courses that have been 35 
provided for volunteers. 
 
You really needn’t worry yourself too much because it’s just - I’ve just realised myself 
that it’s not that important.  So in that instance the Ravenswood fire, you assumed that 
they were paid for attending and in the same way that the Fire Service would hope that 40 
private sector employers would pay their employees.  You talked about there being, 
these are my words, but you talked about there being serious demand for resources on 
that day?---Yes. 
 
And if - can I ask you to think about the east coast fires last summer?---Yes. 45 
 
The Myer fire?---Yes. 
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Begents?---Yes. 
 
In those circumstances people in charge have got to do what they have got to do, 
haven’t they?---Mm. 
 5 
And in the end it doesn’t really matter who you are as long as you have got the 
competence to do the job, I would have thought?---Mm. 
 
There have been circumstances where volunteer firefighters have stood by in the Hobart 
Fire Station, likewise, here?---Yes.  It doesn’t happen all that often but, yes, I think as a 10 
regional chief with an obvious fire, or incident happening you take and use whatever 
resources you have got at your hand, but I also qualify that with the fact that I can’t ask, 
generally ask someone to do something that I either know directly, or suspect is beyond 
their capacity, from a duty of care, I mean, I would not have asked one of our admin 
people, level 3 clerk, to go and drive a truck up to Ravenswood and help out because 15 
my expectations they haven’t got that skill. 
 
Yes?---For Phil and Andrew, with my knowledge that they’re volunteers then, yes, I 
would, and that’s what I did. 
 20 
So am I right in saying that your view of it is that in the circumstances - in 
circumstances that would necessitate it you would have no hesitation in using anybody 
such as Mr Francombe, or Mr Mackrell, Mr Webster if you needed to, whether they be 
on paid time, or not;  is that a reasonable proposition?---Yes, I mean, as I said, if we 
needed the resources and they were able to provide that, yes. 25 
 
Competency and maintenance was an issue discussed with Ms Pearce.  How many 
regions do you have up here in the north?---Districts? 
 
Districts, I’m sorry, yes?---Four.  I count four:  Launceston district is pretty all around 30 
Launceston;  three others in the region which is north east, out there towards Flinders 
Island way;  South Esk runs down the Midlands and out to the east coast and the West 
Tamar, out towards the west, the west side of the Tamar River and out towards 
Devonport way. 
 35 
And does each of those have a district officer - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - in charge of that region?---One in each of the regional districts and Launceston 
district has two.  One dealing with planning and capability and one dealing with 
operations, and one training DO for the whole of the region, learning 40 
developments - - -  
 
Yes, leaving aside Launceston, do you also have field works officers?---One - one for 
each of the three outer districts. 
 45 
And who are those people?---Rodney Springer for South Esk;  north east - see, the brain 
goes on you - Tamar’s Kevin Robertson;  and Roger Whittle for north east.  Sorry, did I 
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say - Rodney Springer for South Esk, Roger Whittle for north east and Kevin Robertson 
for Tamar, yes, sorry. 
 
And their classifications are as a station officer?---All SOs, yes. 
 5 
Leaving aside Mr Whittle who, am I right in saying will not have been long away from 
working shift-work full time?---Yes, Roger came out four months ago to replace Ian 
Bounds. 
 
So Mr Springer, how long would it be since he worked regular shift-work, I mean full-10 
time shift-work?---Six or seven years, I think. 
 
And Mr Robertson?---About the same. 
 
You said Mr Springer did an overtime shift recently?---Yes, a couple of months back. 15 
 
And - - -?---And just tell me, I just - that happened - there was another reason why I 
knew of that, which I won’t talk about here, but they don’t tell me when they’re doing 
those, there’s just an expectation on my part that they’re on the roster and they get called 
in and I occasionally get to hear about it afterwards.  And in this case there was another 20 
issue that came to my attention, that’s the only reason I knew, yes. 
 
Well, I heard you say that, before, that you are concerned about skills maintenance and 
from my point of view that’s rightly so, but do you think Mr Springer doing an overtime 
shift is an acceptable skills maintenance system?---It’s not - it’s helpful but it’s not the 25 
only thing that should happen. 
 
Well - - -?---In other words, one night - - -  
 
Can I put it to you - - -?---Yes. 30 
 
- - - that it’s not an acceptable skills maintenance system?---Yes.  You could put it to 
me, yes. 
 
What would your view be if I did?---It would depend on what other things he’s doing as 35 
well as that.  Rodney’s out there running training days for volunteers, involved in 
operational work out there in the field on a regular basis so a lot of what he does is - 
mirrors what station officers do in town, say, in Launceston. 
 
But am I right in saying that a lot of it doesn’t as well?---Sorry? 40 
 
Aren’t I right in saying in saying that a lot of it doesn’t as well?  Can I give you some 
examples:  he’s not out there training people in hazardous materials except at the most 
basic level which is for volunteers, as I understand it.  Once you know it’s a hazardous 
material incident you don’t do anything, you get the experts in, the career people;  is that 45 
correct?---I’m not aware that he trains in hazardous materials. 
 
Any of the rescues, the special rescue disciplines?---No, probably not, no. 
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So - and they are urban search and rescue, trench rescue, high angle rescue, the list goes 
on and on?---I think he was - I think, I’m not 100 per cent certain, but I think he did the 
urban search and rescue, training with the RAR - the RAR training, I think he was 
exposed to that.  He gets - - -  
 5 
To the RAR team?---I think so, again, I’m not 100 per cent certain but my expectation is 
that he would have - be kept up to date in necessary skills he needs to do his job, so 
there’s development courses, or things that he needed to be involved in to maintain his 
general skill, so I have an expectation he can go back to shift, which he did, and do the 
job back there, then that’s what - then that’s what would happen, but I can’t tell you 10 
because I don’t actually get down there and plan it for him.  The leading development 
guy does that.  I just set the strategy if you like, the frame-work, that’s what I wanted to 
happen and, without looking at - and I don’t look at individuals too much, I have too 
much other things to do but I couldn’t say exactly what Rodney had done and there are 
probably areas of his development that haven’t been addressed properly, or well, or as 15 
frequently as they ought to be, but I see him as significantly different from someone 
like Belinda Harvey that sits in community ed and just visits schools and children every 
day, and could go 12 months without actually being exposed to any operational activity 
that Rodney, on a fairly regular basis, is exposed to those operational environments.  
And whilst I would - I can - I would concur that there are probably areas that he hasn’t 20 
been brought up to speed with, generally speaking, his operational competence as an 
officer is generally maintained whereas it’s not the case for, say, Belinda Harvey, who 
would spend a considerable period of time away from an operational environment.  
That’s how I see them a little different. 
 25 
Fair enough?---And the same for Kevin Robertson.  He’s in the same bad.  He’s station 
officer;  he’s been out for six or seven years, or maybe a little longer and he’s exposed - 
now, the benefit, of the opportunity that they have got in running training courses - I 
shouldn’t say "training courses" I should say "exercises" because that’s what they run.  
So Kevin Robertson, for instance, as an example, set up a considerable hazmat exercise 30 
at Deloraine which involved career people training learning development staff at 
Deloraine High School - not when the high school kids were about, by the way, and 
they ran through the whole decontamination procedure.  And the year before last I 
actually visited them out at Four Springs where they had a helicopter on site, hazardous 
decontamination going on there and relay pumping and a whole heap of other 35 
independent skills on the Four Springs Reserve, so it was away from the general public 
and, I mean, I could say to you, Richard, there’s a lot of people in Launceston that 
haven’t been exposed to the helicopter in the same way that Rodney and Kevin have.  
So there’s all these elements about where you work that expose you to - more to one 
thing than to another.  And my job, I suppose, is to lay the foundations for that balance 40 
to be kept, and you do it as best you can but, obviously, there’s organisational 
imperatives, we have got to get things done, and where we can and whereas, you know, 
we obviously think it’s important that we expose them back to these other areas where 
they don’t get much exposure to.  And that means Kevin and Rodney getting some 
exposure whether it be back on shift, or in some other way, as well as people from shift 45 
coming out and being exposed to what happens in the field.  So I try and balance.  I 
don’t get it right all the time but I do the best I can, I think, or I try. 
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Look, I don’t argue for a moment that you do?---No. 
 
Particularly with the limited resources you have?---Yes. 
 
Let’s turn to road accident rescue.  My understanding is that there’s a refresher required 5 
with respect to road accident rescue, 12 months, I think, isn’t it?---I’m not aware of that 
but it’s possible.  We generally refresh in all of our technical skill areas.  Time-frames 
I’m not certain about but my view is you don’t refresh where you have been actively 
participating in that sort of activity on a day-to-day basis, or whatever, so you don’t just 
refresh because:  oh, it’s 12 months is up;  have you had sufficient exposure to that skill 10 
over the last period of time that you’re still at the right level of competence?  So it might 
be an assessment on whether someone’s, you know, had that exposure or, no, this 
person hasn’t been to a job in that for a while something like, breathing apparatus, you 
haven’t worn it for a period of time you might have to go back and at least wear it once 
or twice.  So I don’t know the time-frames on road accident rescue but we tend to look 15 
at things on a 12-monthly basis, so I would suggest you’re probably right that there 
might be a refresher in the wing for road accident rescue but I couldn’t say definitely 
that there is. 
 
But in the case of high skill low use specialist rescues the norm is refreshers because, 20 
you know, generally speaking, people don’t get those jobs?---Yes. 
 
That’s true, isn’t it?---I would accept that, yes.  I’m not sure that road accident rescues 
are low use.  I think we’re getting a bit of exposure to it but on an individual basis I 
don’t. 25 
 
Yes?---Yes.  But in an area say, for instance, CBR, you know, 
chemical/biological/radiological stuff where they have got use meters that they don’t get 
out very often, that would probably be something that you would have to run through 
refresher training because you have to simulate the environment.  You don’t wait around 30 
for a couple of, you know, terrorist attacks to practise your skill on. 
 
So all of those - say if Mr Robertson and Mr Springer decided to go back to shift-work, 
or you wanted them to, consideration would have to be given to all those things, 
wouldn’t they, they would have to be brought up to speed in a - - -?---Yes.  They would 35 
be given a time to - yes, certainly, there would be a period of time like there was with 
Ian McLaughlin we spoke about earlier, where they would need to be brought up to 
speed. 
 
Yes?---In fact, I was only talking to Rodney Springer yesterday about his time in the 40 
field coming to an end.  I mean, we have discussed this in the past, so he will look at - 
and we will look at when and what transition needs to occur for him to go back on to 
shift-work, as we would with anybody.  And the same, essentially, with someone 
coming out to the field we would do the same, either as a time-frame, or we would 
probably want you out in six months, you know, if there’s areas that they need to know 45 
we would look at providing the background to that, bringing them out. 
 
So you did discuss Mr McLaughlin earlier?---Yes. 



 

.T13022/2007 20.11.07 P-89 A. COMER XXN 
©Auscript Australasia Pty Ltd 2007  MR  WARWICK
  

And I understand it’s difficult to be able to remember precisely who’s where and for 
how long - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - but my understanding that he was away for more than a decade?---Well, Robyn 
said, sorry, Ms Pearce said that he went back in 2003.  I started in Training Services in 5 
July of 1988.  I know that date.  Mr McLaughlin wasn’t with us then.  We worked, and I 
worked in a commercial sense with the Maritime College who’s one of our commercial 
clients, as well as volunteering career training I might add, and commercial training is 
very - just - very much just a part of normal training, and if a commercial client came 
along we would provide those training and that service at a price and at some point 10 
probably in the early nineties somewhere, the commercial aspects of training - now, I 
worked at the Maritime for six years so it could well be in ’94/95 the commercial 
aspects of Training Services, or Training Division as it was called then, was more in-
fenced and worked on a much separate basis where it’s began to deal of its own staff, its 
own structures and reporting lines and became like a in-fenced division in that - within 15 
Training Services. 
 
Yes.  Was such an important - - -?---And it was somewhere around there than Ian came 
on board. 
 20 
Well, I guess the point is that are we agreed, or disagreed, he was away for a long 
time?---He was, yes, I don’t doubt that. 
 
Yes?---10 years, yes, somewhere around about that. 
 25 
Now, and what I’m actually interested in is when he went back to shift?---Yes. 
 
Now, did I hear correctly, or was I mistaken that you agreed with Ms Pearce, or she 
agreed with you that it would - took him about a month to get up to speed in terms of - 
is that right?---To be perfectly honest, I don’t exactly how it took him but I would 30 
suggest - my view would be that he was riding the gear within a fairly short space of 
time of going back as a station officer.  When he was - - -  
 
Yes, what sort of I would like to get at, what is "fairly short"?---Yes. 
 35 
Now, in the first - would he have sort of finished at TasFire Training on a Friday and 
gone on to shift within a few days?  Did he have a period of time where he continued on 
non-rostered shift-work and did familiarisations and what-not?---My short answer is, 
I’m not sure;  I don’t know.  My general recollection is, he would have probably spent 
some time on day work going around a couple of the shifts and being mentored in 40 
perhaps certain elements and maybe some specific skills that had come into the system 
prior to his being out of it.  In that sense he would have been brought up to speed with. 
 
So you wouldn’t call that "riding the gear"?---No. 
 45 
No?---Well, like - well - - -  
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So there would have been a period of time?---Whether he got - whether he rode the gear 
supernumerary, or whether he rode it on the smaller jobs, they said, "This is one that’s 
well within your capability.  With your general knowledge you can take that one", but if 
there was a particularly difficult, or more complex one that he didn’t have the skills with 
and someone else took over that detail I’m not aware of.  My expectation is that he 5 
would have probably spent a month, maybe two months getting up to speed and then 
being - but then possibly riding the gear whether it was supernumerary, or in charge in 
some circumstances, but not being on - not being on day work going through an 
intensive training program for 12 months to get him up to speed. 
 10 
No, I accept?---Yes. 
 
I mean, I agree, accept that?---Yes, but the exact details, I’ll be honest and say I don’t 
know. 
 15 
So you mentioned the word "supernumerary" there a couple of times?---Yes. 
 
Why would you do that?---The same like we do with leading, sorry, senior firefighters 
going to be leading firefighters, we provide them an opportunity in that 12 months prior 
to their assessment, of riding the gear as an officer, in the role of an officer, but they are 20 
shadowed by a competent person.  In other words, they would be drawn alongside and 
be asked to make decisions in relation to certain situations and say what they would do 
and if that’s the right strategy the crews would follow that.  But in the event, from a 
safety point of view, or a strategic point of view that’s the wrong decision it would be 
countermanded, if you like, by the shadower to make sure that nothing went wrong.  So 25 
there’s a period of mentoring and tutoring that goes with getting back up to speed.  
Now, I don’t know that Ian was mentored in that way.  I’m - my views would be that’s 
probably what happened but I don’t know that it did happen, but he would be expected 
to have retained a reasonable amount of knowledge and skill as an SO from when he 
left despite the period of time.  And I’m not even sure he didn’t go back from time to 30 
time on the shift in that 10 years, or whatever it was? 
 
I’m pretty sure he didn’t?---Right. 
 
Yes, but - - -?---But he was out of it - that day and 10 years later arrived back that it 35 
would obviously be, "Well, what can you remember?  What can - what skills have you 
still got?"  And bear in mind that officer - an officer role hasn’t got as much technical 
knowledge, or skill as a firefighter role.  There’s some, obviously, but not - it’s more a 
management, or leadership role as opposed to technical hands-on hardware-type stuff. 
 40 
Yes.  Just to conclude, can I put a couple of general propositions to you, and if you 
could tell me whether you - what do you think about those propositions?  The first 
proposition I put to you is:  the longer a person’s away doing non-rostered shift-work, 
perhaps an overtime shift here and there, depends on the job, it might be in Tas, well, 
let’s say TasFire Training or building safety, you don’t currently have people doing that, 45 
that is people from a career firefighting background doing those jobs here but is it - 
would it be true to say that as a general proposition the longer you are away the more 
care and attention to detail would have to be given to making sure that you’re currently 
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competent when you go back?---Yes, I would think as a general rule I would suggest 
that’s the case.  There ought to be a plan up-front to maintain that person irrespective of 
how long how they’re away, the planning ought to be that you’re competently - your are 
competent at all stages to return to operational duties.  Does that answer your question, 
or is that complicated? 5 
 
Well, I agree in theory with you that that ought to be the case but since you have given 
that answer - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - I have to ask you, I know it hasn’t been the case in the past, has it in many 10 
instances?---It’s not, as I said, and there ought to be but there’s not, a formal plan for 
someone when they come off shift-work on to non-rostered shift-work there probably 
ought to be a plan to ensure that they maintain operational competency.  Now, the 
questions that need to be answered is that, how do you drop off those skills?  If you 
wore a BA 12 months ago, for instance, can you still wear it 12 months later if you 15 
haven’t worn it in between, are questions that need to be asked and answered.  I would 
suggest, yes.  I haven’t worn a BA for probably 10 years but I think I could go down 
there now and put one on and show you that I can still wear it, because I did it so often 
that I don’t lose that skill.  Ride a bike once you would probably continue to be able to.  
So what we haven’t identified is:  what skills drop off;  what are the important skills that 20 
drop off and we haven’t established plans for these people to come out.  Going back to 
your question, if you did nothing, the longer you’re away the more intensive the 
recovery plan would need to be to bring you back on to shift, yes, I agree with that. 
 
And there would need to be more regard given to risk?---Yes. 25 
 
There may be risk in you performing those roles and not being currently 
competent?---Yes.  Yes, you can’t do something you haven’t been kept, or got up to, or 
maintained your competence. 
 30 
Yes.  Another general proposition I would like to put to you is that, and I ask you this 
question in light of the fact that you’re the Chair of the Career Training Advisory 
Committee such as, well, it hasn’t met for some time but, nonetheless, you are, can I put 
a proposition to you that, generally speaking, that skills maintenance has been done in 
the north, from career firefighters and officers point of view has been done better in the 35 
north than it has in other parts of the state over a long period of time?---I’m - I don’t 
know, I really don’t know what they do too much in the south, I mean, I - ask me the 
question again so I can just get a handle on it.  I’m not quite sure what you’re asking? 
 
Well, skills maintenance has been an issue for a long period of time?---Oh, all right, 40 
okay.  So this is on shift skills and maintenance-type stuff.  Are you talking about skills 
and maintenance for non-rostered shift-works? 
 
Both?---Right. 
 45 
Generally speaking, so you can answer it two ways if you choose, but - and it’s been an 
issue that’s been around a long time.  It’s been something that everybody’s recognised, 
you know, and there needs to be a skills maintenance system and it’s worked to varying 
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degrees of success and I would - my view, this is a proposition I put to you which you 
can agree with, or not, my view is that it’s historically been done better in the north than 
it has been elsewhere?---No.  Well, I - to be honest, Richard, sorry, Mr Warwick, I don’t 
know how well it’s been running in the south, or north west regions, and I would be 
loathe to compare - - -  5 
 
I’ll probably pay a price for doing it but I think it’s a fair observation?---Oh, if I - if I 
genuinely thought we did it better in the north I would say so.  I think there are things 
we do better in the north but I’m very conscious as regional chief my role is to make 
sure it happens state-wide, and I really don’t know how well it actually does run in the 10 
other regions, so I’m being honest there.  I believe we could run it better in the north.  It 
might be running - might be being done very well, like it can always improve, and I’m 
not ducking or avoiding the question, I don’t - - -  
 
I understand?---Yes. 15 
 
Yes?---I believe there are hit - there’s hit and miss there somewhere where it probably 
happens fairly well and others where it doesn’t. 
 
Well, can I ask you about your local knowledge then?---Yes. 20 
 
How would you characterise, say on shift skills maintenance in Launceston, would you 
characterise it as poor;  would you say it was interim - intermediate, or would you say 
there’s, you know, considerable enthusiasm for it?---Adequate is probably the word that 
comes to my mind, it’s adequate, but it’s nowhere near where it could, or should be, in 25 
my view, to maximise.  I mean, "adequate" means you get by with what you have got.  I 
have a high standard, a personal high standard, I think, and I probably expect more than 
what, you know, probably what one ought to but - and I strive for that, and I think we’re 
meeting what would be considered reasonable but I think I would like, from my point of 
view, you’re asking me from a personal point of view, I would say I think we can do 30 
better. 
 
So if someone else, if someone other than me put it to you that skills maintenance in 
Launceston, the Launceston Fire Brigade, was poor, how would you respond to that?---I 
would like them to qualify in what areas - ask them a various series of questions, I 35 
would say - I would find it difficult to say it’s poor.  I would go back towards adequate, 
but if they’re identifying that it could be a lot better I would probably agree with them. 
 
Thank you very much, Mr Comer, for your evidence.  I really appreciate it?---Thanks, 
Mr Warwick. 40 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Ms Pearce? 
 
MS PEARCE:   Thank you, Commissioner. 
 45 
 
<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS PEARCE  
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MS PEARCE:   Just a couple of questions to clarify, Mr Comer.  Mr Warwick asked 
you whether or not the areas that Mr Francombe and Mr Mackrell work in report 
directly to you and you indicated not.  Can you please tell us whether or not the 
volunteer brigades within which they are members, directly report to you, or not?---No. 
 5 
Well, report to you ultimately?---Ultimately, they do. 
 
Ultimately they do;  so you have a responsibility, a line management responsibility for 
those volunteer brigades?---I do. 
 10 
Okay.  So you have the authority to request them to go to an incident - - -?---I do. 
 
- - - from a line management perspective as volunteers?---Yes. 
 
Thank you.  Mr Warwick also asked a couple of questions, or made some mention of 15 
Mr Webster as well, in terms of his volunteer role.  Are you familiar as - - -?---I think 
it’s - I think it’s Steve Webster.  I think he’s up the north west coast. 
 
Yes.  Do you have any knowledge of him - - -?---I nearly queried - - -  
 20 
Do you have any knowledge of him - - -?---Not a lot, no. 
 
- - - or his background?  Do you know if he’s a volunteer, or not?  Are you qualified to 
talk about Mr Webster in any sense?---No, I - I nearly - I nearly said Webster - I’m not 
quite sure.  I know the name.  I think I’ve seen the face.  If you gave me a crowd of 25 
people I couldn’t pick him out, I don’t think, but I believe he’s probably Andrew Mr 
Francombe’s counterpart in the north west coast, that’s about all I know, yes. 
 
And, finally, Mr Warwick asked regarding skills maintenance and you mentioned about 
ideally having a formal plan, and as we know there’s always - - -?---Yes. 30 
 
- - - an ideal world that we can have?---Yes. 
 
In a world, though, where if it takes us, or the Fire Service two to four weeks in order to 
get somebody who hasn’t been operational for up to 10 years back to being able to 35 
competently respond to incidents, is that satisfactory?  I mean, two to four weeks it’s not 
a significant period of time?  There’s an ideal;  there’s a balance?---Yes, I - my view is, I 
think we - if a person’s coming out for a considerable period of time, and this is in 
excess of 12 months, I think up to 12 months, I don’t think your skills drop off too much 
and I wouldn’t worry too much about exposure back to operational areas, but if - with 40 
generally bringing people out for two years at SO level, station officer level, and 
sometimes they’re electing to stay on further and we are facilitating that, I think at that 
point we would need to have some sort of plan.  And we are pushing the concept of 
personal development plans.  I think I would be - I would prefer that to happen, to have 
a plan.  Exactly how long they wanted to go back for and maybe a week, a year, even if 45 
they’re out for two years, or longer, a week, a year, some sort of structure to it, would 
most likely be sufficient. 
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And I agree that’s - the ideal - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - is to be able to do that?---Yes. 
 
However, is the Tasmania Fire Service’s ability to respond and provide a service 5 
damaged at all by not having the plan and giving the person two to four weeks, for 
whatever that period of time is, to gain the competencies back to the level to be able to 
respond;  are our services damaged?---No.  No, not - - -  
 
No;  okay.  So either way would work.  There’s an ideal;  there’s an alternative?---Yes.  10 
Yes, if you took someone out of the loop for two years, never exposed them, or 
anything and said:  right, two months, or a month, or whatever back, you know, in that 
little course, or training, or whatever development and then you’re back up to where you 
were when you left, you know, there’s probably not a lot lost overall. 
 15 
Which is significantly - - -?---Yes. 
 
- - - different to a number of years for somebody who’s never had an operational 
background?---Say that again? 
 20 
Which is a significantly different period of time for somebody who’s never had an 
operational background?---Oh, if you haven’t had an operational background you’re 
starting from square one.  Yes, if you could just - bringing someone back up to speed is 
a lot different from starting someone from scratch, yes, and I’m counting there the 
volunteers being sort of scratch, if you know what I mean.  You do an R - you do a bit 25 
of an assessment of where they’re at and every volunteer would probably start 
somewhere at a point different but generally there’s a fair gap between what a volunteer 
has the capacity to do in terms of what, you know, say, a career station - there’s a gap 
there.  Not to say what they don’t do isn’t any good but they do it in their environment 
and then you have got the career staff - there’s a whole range of things that volunteers 30 
are not exposed to, you know, aerials and alarm systems and all sorts of things like that.  
Starting a volunteer off at that level was - you’re back, yes. 
 
Thank you very much, Mr Comer, nothing more.  Thanks for your time. 
 35 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Comer?---All right. 
 
You’re excused?---I can go? 
 
Yes, you certainly can?---Thank you all. 40 
 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.35 pm] 
 
 45 
THE COMMISSIONER:   And that, I think, concludes for the day, doesn’t it? 
 
MS PEARCE:   Yes.  Yes, thank you. 
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MR BAKER:   Well, before we conclude I would just - I would seek some directions 
from the commission. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
 5 
MR BAKER:   As I pointed out this morning this case started off seeking to establish 
appropriate relativities between the operational stream and the non-operational stream if 
I could use that expression.  That changed mid-point to seeking equality of salaries and 
this morning Mr Mackrell further expanded on that position again and I am now unsure 
exactly what equality of outcome means. 10 
 
So I would like the UFU, either today, or tomorrow to outline once and for all what this 
claim is about.  The other thing I think I should point out, and I make - I made the point 
on the first day, that the matters dealt with under principle 9 of work value, then it’s 
dealt with under that principle.  Now, my view, we have deviated quite substantially 15 
from the work value principle. 
 
We’re now in a situation whereby we’re talking about salaries, equality of salaries that 
are based on not competence but on the difference between competence and the loaded 
rates:  however applicable the loaded rate is, whether it’s applicable, or whether it’s not 20 
applicable, in whatever circumstance, we’re not talking about equality of outcome based 
on competence, skills and training.  And my view is, if you move away from that 
principle you then move away from the work value principle. 
 
And if that is the case then, excuse the pun, but this case must fall over because there is 25 
no way that this commission as it’s currently constrained by the wage-fixing principles, 
in my submission, can award an increase that’s simply based on somebody’s shift 
penalty, or a loading that, as was explained by Mr Mackrell this morning, because 
somebody works additional hours they get an extra loading. 
 30 
THE COMMISSIONER:   That’s an argument I want to hear a lot more about, to be 
candid, and the, you know, the relevance of the loaded rate, the all-up rate, whatever it’s 
called, the history of it is something that I’ve got no knowledge of and I want to hear 
more about, you know, in submissions more than likely, and perhaps in evidence, but 
that’s an argument that are yet to have and I’m not going to rule on it now, I’m telling 35 
you now. 
 
I understand your argument but that’s - having come this far I’m not going to rule on 
that argument.  I understand very clearly what your position is and there’s no detriment 
to your argument by me not ruling on that now.  As to your first point about what 40 
precisely is the UFU claim, I think there’s some substance in what you’re saying there 
and perhaps, Mr Warwick, if - would you be in a position to provide us with a draft 
order, draft aware variation, as to what it precisely is you’re seeking? 
 
MR WARWICK:   Yes. 45 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   You know, for example, I’m not - it’s not clear in my mind 
whether under your proposal the levels 1, 2, 3 and 4 are to continue, or are they to be 
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merged into one, or two, or what?  That’s what I’m getting at.  That’s not clear to my 
mind yet.  I understand your broad principle - - -  
 
MR WARWICK:   Yes. 
 5 
THE COMMISSIONER:   - - - but as it relates to the award structure I think all of us 
would be assisted if you could give some thought to that before we get too much 
farther. 
 
MR WARWICK:   Yes.  Yes, I can do that. 10 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I’m asking you to do that as soon as you can, please. 
 
MR WARWICK:   Would that be - well, I would propose that that be in a form of, in 
answer to that question, we see the community fire safety officer section of the award 15 
continuing and we don’t see this case as being about changing any of the conditions of 
employment that apply, at least at this stage - well, it may happen down the track but 
not as part of this case.  So would a re-drafted community fire safety officer salary scale 
suffice? 
 20 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, that would certainly assist, I mean, it’s one thing to say 
you want to align these people with their operational counterparts, but I’m not quite sure 
how that necessarily translates to the classification structure. 
 
MR WARWICK:   Certainly. 25 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Because there are levels within that.  But I mean, if you can 
- I think the best way forward would be if you could provide us with a draft award 
variation as to what you would like to see as the final outcome. 
 30 
MR WARWICK:   Yes. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   And if you could do that at your earliest convenience that 
would be good.  We’ll resume at 9.30? 
 35 
MR BAKER:   Yes, Commissioner. 
 
MS PEARCE:   Yes, Commissioner. 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   At Argyle Street. 40 
 
MR WARWICK:   At 8 - - -  
 
MS PEARCE:   Hobart Fire Brigade. 
 45 
MR WARWICK:   At the HFB? 
 
MS PEARCE:   Yes. 
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MR WARWICK:   Whereabouts in the HFB? 
 
MS PEARCE:   Hobart Fire Brigade, HFB.  Whereabouts?  Probably in - well, in 
reception at the state - if we go to the reception at State Headquarters right on the corner 
there and then we’ll get people to pick us up from there and move us over. 5 
 
THE COMMISSIONER:   Okay, that’s good.  We’ll adjourn till 9.30 tomorrow. 
 
 
MATTER ADJOURNED at 1.40 pm UNTIL 10 
WEDNESDAY, 21 NOVEMBER 2007 
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